### South Dakota State University

## Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

2023

# The Effects of Residue Amounts and Variety Selection on the Development of Wheat Fungal Pathogens in South Dakota

Abrielle Tembreull South Dakota State University, abrielle.tembreull@jacks.sdstate.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd2

Part of the Agronomy and Crop Sciences Commons, and the Plant Pathology Commons

### **Recommended Citation**

Tembreull, Abrielle, "The Effects of Residue Amounts and Variety Selection on the Development of Wheat Fungal Pathogens in South Dakota" (2023). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 843. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd2/843

This Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. For more information, please contact michael.biondo@sdstate.edu.

### THE EFFECTS OF RESIDUE AMOUNTS AND VARIETY SELECTION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF WHEAT FUNGAL PATHOGENS IN SOUTH DAKOTA

By:

Abrielle Tembreull

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Major in Plant Science

SOUTH DAKOTA STATE UNIVERSITY

2023

### THESIS ACCEPTANCE PAGE Abrielle Tembreull

This thesis is approved as a creditable and independent investigation by a candidate for the master's degree and is acceptable for meeting the thesis requirements for this degree. Acceptance of this does not imply that the conclusions reached by the candidate are necessarily the conclusions of the major department.

> Madalyn Shires Advisor

Date

David Wright

Department Head

Date

Date

Nicole Lounsbery, PhD Director, Graduate School Acknowledgements:

Two and half years, three advisors, dozens of doctor's appointments, and so many more hurdles were jumped during the span of this experiment. Below is a list of all the people who made this project happen no matter the size of the contribution. This experiment would not have been completed without them.

> Dr. Madalyn Shires Dr. Emmanuel Byamukama Dr. Dalitso Yabwalo Dr. Shaukat Ali Dr. Sharon Clay Cody Molnar Dr. Rebecca Lee Phillips Dr. Maira Rodrigues Duffeck Dr. Esneider Mahecha Abigial Schuldt Grace Grube Ashley Frederickson Jaswinder Kaur Taite Grossman

## Contents

Thesis Abstract vi	
Chapter 1 Literature Review1	
Chapter 1 History of Wheat in the U.S 1	
Chapter 1 Diseases of Importance to the Project	
Models for Diseases of Interest	
Chapter 1 Purpose of Project	
Chapter 1 South Dakota NPMTI Objectives	
Chapter 1 Literature Cited	
Chapter 2 Examination of the Impact of Disease on Yield in Seven Winter Wheat Varieties	
Chapter 2 Introduction	
Objectives	
Chapter 2 Methodology	
Selection of Varieties	
Field Site Selection	
Disease Ratings	
Plot Harvest	
Statistics	
Chapter 2 Results	
2021 Disease Ratings	
2022 Disease Ratings	
Differences in Yield	
Chapter 2 Discussion	
Chapter 2 Conclusion	
Chapter 2 Literature Cited	
Chapter 2 Tables and Figures	

Chapter 3 The Influence of Residue Amounts on Spot Disease Development in South Dakota	
Chapter 3 Introduction	
Objective	44
Hypotheses	44
Chapter 3 Methodology	44
Field Site Preparation	44
Residue Applications	
Disease Ratings	
Residue Collection	45
Data Collection	
Statistical Analysis	
Chapter 3 Results	47
2021 Residue Analysis	44
2022 Residue Analysis	
Yield Data	
Chapter 3 Discussion	48
Chapter 3 Conclusion	53
Chapter 3 Literature Cited	54
Chapter 3 Tables and Figures	56
Chapter 4 Overall Conclusions	64
Conclusions	64
Future Directions	65
Literature Cited	66
Tables and Figures	

### ABSTRACT

## THE EFFECTS OF RESIDUE AMOUNTS AND VARIETY SELECTION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF WHEAT FUNGAL PATHOGENS IN SOUTH DAKOTA

Abrielle Tembreull

2023

Roughly 50% of South Dakota cropland is under the practice of no-till, with large increases in acres of no-till in the last 20 or so years. No-till is beneficial for Great Plains states, such as South Dakota, as soil residues are withheld. Residues are shown to increase soil health through retention of moisture and increase of microorganisms, but residues can serve as a source of inoculum for fungal pathogens that can overwinter on them. As wheat is one of the most important food crops in the world, it is important to protect this vital crop from diseases. Diseases of wheat can reduce yields by a minimum of 20 percent on a global basis. Some of the most common wheat pathogens that affect plants are fungal pathogens, including leaf rusts, stripe rust, stem rusts, Stagonospora nodorum blotch, Septoria tritici blotch, and tan spot. These diseases were evaluated in seven different varieties ('Draper', 'Ideal', 'Redfield', 'Thompson', 'Expedition'. 'Wesley', and 'Oahe') and four different residue amounts (20%, 40%, 60%, and 80% ground cover) to determine the importance of choosing a disease resistant variety and the effect of residue amounts on pathogen development and yield. The varieties were chosen due to their differences in tolerance and susceptibility to the pathogens, and the residue amounts were chosen to encompass a wide range of tillage/non-tillage systems. Results

from this study indicate that there are multiple different spot pathogens present in South Dakota with the variety 'Draper'

having significantly higher disease amounts in 2021. In 2022, the most disease amounts were seen on 'Expedition' which was susceptible/unrated for all leaf spot pathogens.

'Expedition' also had the greatest amount of stripe rust in 2021. The residue amounts were also shown to have a significant effect on disease development. The higher residue levels (60% and 80%) were often significantly higher in disease than the lower levels (20% and 40%). This study was done to establish a baseline for the types of diseases present in South Dakota wheat and to understand the effects that residues have on wheat production and disease development.

#### **Chapter 1: Literature Review**

### 1. History of Wheat in the U.S.

*Triticum aestivum L.* (wheat) is an important crop throughout the world. In the 2022-2023 marketing year, wheat was ranked as third among agricultural crops grown in the United States by the U.S Department of Agriculture (USDA-NASS, 2022). Over 1.65 billion bushels and 35.5 million acres of wheat were harvested (USDA-NASS, 2022). Wheat is the primary food grain grown in the United States, but the amount of acreage and bushels grown has been on a decline since the 1980's (USDA-NASS, 2022).

Wheat, although not native to the United States, made its way from Spain with Columbus in 1494 and new varieties from all over Europe made their way over with colonists (Ball, 1930). Although there was a large selection of varieties that moved across the Atlantic by the 1600's, the eastern coast was not the best suited for the growth of wheat, shifting the focus towards corn that was easier to grow and better adapted to the environment (Ball, 1930). The 1700's was a period of expansion into central North America, leading to an increase in wheat production and thus wheat diseases. (Ball, 1930). Multiple disease issues occurred during this time, but thanks to the French immigrants familiar with most of the diseases, producers learned methods that resulted in some control of rust, through the removal of many barbery bushes, that serve as an alternate host, as well as mildew and smut diseases that were present (Ball, 1930).

The 1800's were a period of even greater expansion in land and farming technology, allowing new areas for wheat production in the United States (Ball, 1930). These increases lead to the introduction of new varieties that would be the foundation of wheat production in the Great Plains. 'Red Fife' was a foundation variety for the production of hard red spring wheat in the Great Plains, while 'Turkey', 'Crimean', and 'Kharkof' were the foundation of hard red winter wheat in the central and southern plains (Paulsen & Shroyer, 2008). The introduction of these varieties was of great economic importance to the United States by shifting the major production of wheat to the Great Plains and led to the exportation of wheat from the United States (Paulsen & Shroyer, 2008).

'Red Fife' was named after the farmer who selected it, D.A. Fife, who bought the variety in Glasgow. The variety was successful and, unlike many others available, was unaffected by rust diseases; because of this, Fife was able to supply seed to neighbors who then bred it with other wheat varieties (Paulsen & Shroyer, 2008). The hard red winter wheat variety 'Turkey' was introduced by Mennonite settlers from Ukraine and Crimea in the late 1800's, but the quality of the variety was not recognized for over 25 years by others because the Mennonites were a close-knit group that did not interact with others often (Paulsen & Shroyer, 2008). 'Turkey' and 'Red Fife' were the foundation stock for breeding much of today's hard red spring and winter wheat. Both were adapted well for growth within the Great Plains and showed resistance to some of the diseases, such as rusts and mildews, that were a problem then and are still a problem more than 150 years later.

Wheat has been one of the most predominant crops in South Dakota for over a century. In the 1920's, South Dakota was producing about 30 million bushels of wheat annually which made it the second most predominantly planted crop, only behind corn in bushels per acre produced (Hardies & Hume, 1927). The types of wheat produced were

hard red spring, hard red winter and durum wheat (Hardies & Hume, 1927). In 2022, hard red winter wheat produced 41 million bushels alone in South Dakota (Gerlach, 2022), with a value of over \$330 million dollars. (USDA-NASS, 2022). Wheat production in South Dakota is now third in bushels produced behind corn and soybean production (USDA-NASS, 2022).

### 1.2 Diseases of Importance to this Project

Rust diseases were major threats to early wheat growers in the United States and still threaten the growth of today's wheat crops. There are three major wheat rust diseases: stem rust caused by *Puccinia graminis* f. sp. *tritici*; leaf rust caused by *Puccinia triticina*; and stripe rust caused by *Puccinia striiformis* f. sp. *tritici*.

Stem rust of wheat (*Puccinia graminis* f. sp. *tritici*) was, in the past, considered the most harmful wheat rust, with yield losses of up to 50 percent (Martinez–Moreno & Solis, 2019). Stem rust can reduce a healthy crop into broken stems and black shriveled grains (Peterson, 2018). The disease is characterized by dark red-brown pustules found on the stem and leaves of the wheat (Martinez–Moreno & Solis, 2019). Stem rust is considered the most dangerous rust disease because it attacks the leaf blade, leaf sheath, stem, and the head of the wheat unlike the other rust pathogens that only affect the leaves of the plant (Eversmeyer & Kramer, 2000). The pustules burst out of the plant, causing distinct symptoms to help differentiate this rust from other rusts.

*Puccinia graminis* f. sp. *tritici* is a macrocyclic, heteroecious rust fungus with five distinct stages (Leonard & Szabo, 2005). The resting overwintering spores of stem rust are two-celled teliospores that remain in the straw of previous year's crops until spring. In the spring, basidium is produced, which form the basidiospores that are ejected from the

basidium and carried by wind and air currents to infect alternate host in the *Barberis* genus. In the alternate host, sexual spores are created: pycniospores (male gametes) and pycnia (female gametes). Fusion of gametes leads to the production of aeciospores that infect wheat and other grass species, where production of hypha and urediniospores, that produce uredinium, occurs. Urediniospores are dispersed by wind and infect more wheat and grass species. Once the grass and wheat hosts are mature, uredinia start to produce the overwintering teliospores to continue the cycle into the next season (Leonard & Szabo, 2005). The *Barberis* alternative host species of stem rust has been mostly eradicated in the U.S. In addition, increased amounts of resistant wheat cultivars have reduced the number of stem rust races and epidemics in the United States (Kolmer et al., 2007).

Leaf rust (*Puccinia triticina*), also referred to as brown rust, can be found in all major wheat growing regions. (Kolmer et al., 2007) and is one of the three rust diseases commonly found in North America (Kolmer, 2013). The common name is derived from the fact that the leaf rust pathogen attacks leaf blades. However, in some highly susceptible varieties, it has been found to infect the leaf sheath and glumes as well (Draz et al., 2015). Uredinia appear on the upper leaf surface and are an orange-brown color. In general, losses are most often light at less than 20 percent. However, in some notable cases, there has been complete crop loss reported when disease was severe prior to heading (USDA-CDL, 2022).

Like all wheat rust pathogens, leaf rust is a full macrocyclic and heteroecious rust that follows the same stages of development of stem rust but with different alternate hosts (Kolmer, 2013). The pycnial stage alternate hosts of leaf rust include *Thalictrum*  *speciosissimum* and *Isopyrum fumaroides* which are not native to North America; the *Thalictrum* and *Isopyrum* species that are native to North America are moderately resistant to infection (Bolton, et al., 2008). Leaf rust persists in North America due to the fact that southern winter wheat fields are infected by urediniospores in the fall months. These spores infect the host and are able to survive as the wheat lies dormant during the winter (Kolmer, 2013). Once winter wheat breaks dormancy in the southern United States, urediniospore production increases as the wheat matures. These spores are dispersed by wind and eventually reach the northern states and into Canadian providences (Kolmer, 2013).

Stripe rust is a significant disease of both spring and winter wheat and has been observed to devastate wheat crops on all continents, except Antarctica. Most wheat growing areas of the world have wheat varieties with little to no resistance to the pathogen (Jamil et al., 2020). In the United States alone, stripe rust results in an estimated yearly loss of one billion dollars (Schwessinger et al., 2020). Yield losses can be up to 100 percent if the environmental conditions are correct and the infection starts early (Jamil et al., 2020). Stripe rust was first observed in the United States in 1915. Historically, it was most severe in the Pacific Northwest, but since 2000, it has become more prevalent east of the Rocky Mountains into the Great Plains (Liu et al., 2017). Stem rust was considered the most economically important rust pathogen in the United States, however as stripe rust has an expanding geographic range and an associated increase in yield and production losses, it is now considered the most damaging rust pathogen in the United States (Lyon & Broders, 2017). The disease has been reported in over 30 states and five Canadian providences as of 2016, which is a large increase from the 11 states that reported before 2000 (Lyon & Broders, 2017).

The increase in stripe rust prevalence has led to more research on the pathogen. Stripe rust infection can start as early as one-leaf stage all the way up to plant maturity, if the plants are still green (Chen, 2005). Small, orange-colored uredia form stripes as well as chlorosis and necrosis on the leaves of the infected plant (Chen, 2005). The life cycle of stripe rust is the same as stem and leaf rust, but it was only in 2010 that the alternate host was identified. In June 2009, evidence of stripe rust was observed on multiple different *Barberis* species. To prove this, scientists Jin et al. (2010) of the Cereal Disease Laboratory at the University of Minnesota inoculated several *Barberis* species with telia spores of wheat stripe rust. Aeciospores developed on the *Barberis* species and were then used to successfully reinfect wheat (Jin et al., 2010). The resulting telia on wheat was extracted and analyzed using real-time polymerase chain reactions (qPCR) to determine that wheat stripe rust was reproducing on *Barberis*, finally confirming alternate hosts for the wheat stripe rust lifecycle (Jin et al., 2010).

Other diseases that are a threat to wheat production today include the fungal spot pathogens which are found within residues of previous year's crops. Residue-borne pathogens present a unique danger to dryland farming states, such as South Dakota, that are more likely to practice no-till or conservation tillage. According to South Dakota State University Extension Service, from 2012 to 2017, no-till acres increase by 7% and conservation tillage acres rose by 24% (Bly, 2020). These tillage methodologies are designed to maximize soil moisture and health through leaving previous crop residues on fields. The accumulation of residues leads to an accumulation of disease as well, potentially increasing disease pressure on wheat crops. While the previously mentioned rust pathogens are not known to overwinter in South Dakota, multiple other fungal pathogens are. Residue-borne fungal diseases that are included in this study are: tan spot (*Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*); Stagonospora nodurom blotch (*Parastagonospora nodorum*); and Septoria tritici blotch (*Zymoseptoria tritici*).

The most widespread fungal disease evaluated in this research is *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*, the causal agent of tan spot of wheat, which is one of the most devastating and widespread necrotrophic wheat pathogens noted for the potential of destruction in all wheat growing areas of the world (Cotuna et al., 2015). In severe cases of tan spot, yield can be reduced 20 to 50 percent (Carigano et al., 2008). In South Dakota, tan spot alone can cause 5 to 29 percent yield losses on wheat, which is economically devastating to most producers (Abdullah et al., 2017). There are four primary factors of tan spot that determine yield loss associated with the pathogen. The first factor is the amount of inoculum present; second is the presence of the necessary period of leaf wetness after inoculation. Next is the host genotype which determines the level of resistance to the pathogen; the final factor is the growth stage of the wheat when infected (Shaber & Bockus, 1988).

The lifecycle of *P. tritici-repentis* (tan spot) is as follows: pseudothecia develop and mature on plant residues after harvest in the fall and winter. In the spring, ascospores are forced from the psuedothecia, moved via wind and/or rain splash to the lower leaves of wheat plants to begin primary infection; ascospores of this pathogen do not move far when infecting new plants as they are relatively large in size (Wegulo, 2011). Once the ascospore is moved to a new host plant, it enters the epidermis directly and grows intercellularly through the mesophyll (Ciuffetti & Tuori, 1999). Following initial infection by ascospores, the fungus begins producing conidia which serve as secondary inoculum. Conidia can also be produced on residues and serve as both primary and secondary inoculum as conidia travel farther than ascospores because of their smaller size and greater numbers (Wegulo, 2011).

Tan spot has three different host selective toxins, otherwise known as necrotrophic effectors, that determine pathogenicity. Necrosis is caused by Ptr ToxA, whereas chlorosis is caused by Ptr ToxB and ToxC (Aboukhaddour et al., 2013). Eight different races of tan spot have been isolated; these races are based upon their virulence phenotypes on a set of different lines which determine the necrotrophic effectors they produce (Liu et al., 2015). Symptoms of tan spot are typically elliptical shaped necrotic lesions with a chlorotic border (Liu et al., 2015), but symptom development is affected by both toxins produced and the race of the pathogen. Races and the associated toxins have been explored and determined as follows: Race 1- Ptr ToxA and ToxC; Race 2-Tox A; Race 3- ToxC; Race 4- no known toxins; Race 5- ToxB; Race 6- ToxB and C; Race 7- ToxA and B; and Race 8- ToxA, B, and C (Abdullah et al., 2017; Lamari et al., 2003).

The second residue-borne disease studied in this research is *Parastagonospora nodorum*, the fungal agent responsible for the development of Stagonospora nodorum blotch of wheat which is one of the most important diseases of wheat in the Northern Great Plains (Liu et al., 2015). This pathogen overwinters on wheat residues left on the field in pseudothecia and pycnidia. Ascospores from the pseudothecia are the main source of inoculum, but conidia which are rain splashed from pycnidia can start the disease cycle as well. Once plant leaves are infected, pycnidia develop within the lesions and spread conidia from the lower leaves to the upper leaves, glumes, and other plants via rain splash. Psuedothecia take longer to develop than pycnidia because two opposite mating types are required and often develop on wheat stubble to provide the primary inoculum for the following year (Mehra et al., 2019).

Stagonospora nodorum blotch causes necrotic lesions on the leaves of wheat as well as discoloration of the head (Solomon et al., 2006). The lesions are lens-shaped without an obvious chlorotic halo surrounding the necrotic tissue (Liu et al., 2015). Both the quality and the quantity of grain can be affected by the disease. Reduction in yield occurs because of the reduced photosynthetic area of the upper leaves, leading to lower thousand-kernel weight and test weight. Yield losses have been reported of up to 50 percent in the United States and Europe (Mehra et al., 2015).

The third and final fungal spot disease evaluated in this study was *Zymeoseptoria tritici*, which is an ascomycete fungal pathogen responsible for the development of Septoria tritici blotch. Septoria tritici blotch is currently the most damaging wheat disease in Europe (McDonald & Mundt, 2016) and increasingly problematic in the United States. According to the Crop Protection Network, Septoria was the cause of 2,734 thousand bushels lost during the 2021 wheat season (Friskop et al., 2021) *Zymeoseptoria tritici* has a hemibiotrophic lifecycle with two distinct phases (Kettles & Kanyuka, 2016). Inoculation of the plant occurs by wind-borne ascospores or rain-splashed conidia onto wheat leaves. The spores germinate and invade the plant through the stomata where a long asymptomatic phase of hyphal growth in the apoplastic space occurs. This phase usually lasts for 7 to 10 days, after which, the fungus switches from biotrophic growth to necrotrophic growth, causing cells to collapse and lesions with yellow flecks or blotches

develop. The lesions expand and pycnidia develop around stomata in the necrotic lesions and exude conidia that are again rain-splashed, continuing the disease lifecycle. The pathogen overwinters primarily as pseudothecia but can also survive as pycnidia on crop residues (Ponomarenko et al., 2011).

All six pathogens previously mentioned are harmful to wheat crops both in the United States and other wheat growing countries of the world. The associated risks lead to a need for prediction of epidemics and, in turn, a way to prevent and control the outbreak. There are two main forms of control for wheat pathogens including fungicides and resistant varieties. Management strategies for rust diseases also include the removal of alternative hosts by herbicides and tillage. Stagonospora nodorum blotch is primarily controlled by the use of SDHIs and DMIs fungicides. In the past Qols were used, but resistance has developed due to evolution of new races of the pathogen (Figueroa et al., 2018). Septoria is effectively controlled by most commercially available fungicides; resistance is rarely detected but when detected is for QoI class of fungicides. (Figueroa et al., 2018). For the control of tan spot, fungicides can be used with little resistance risks as the pathogen is relatively new. The fungicides that have been found to work the best are QoIs, which help increase wheat yield by up to 4.4 tons per acre (Figueroa et al., 2018). Fungicides are helpful but do have two notable drawbacks: fungicides can be expensive, and by the time some of the fungal diseases are visible, it is too late to control the pathogens well. The use of a disease prediction model could help in determining if there is a need for fungicide application and determine application timings.

Predictive models for fungal pathogens are hard to develop and there are challenges such as the level of complexity needed for the model, models tend to be site and year specific, and models that do not take the effects of storage, field management, or human behavior under consideration (Prandini et al., 2009). Another issue that models must consider is that each fungal pathogen has preferred temperatures and require different periods of water. There are many different prediction models for wheat diseases, the most common of which is the FHB risk index, but they are not always easily found or accessible for producers. There are also some phone applications available, such as Plantix, Agrio, Plant Vision AI, and Plant Doctor. These applications are often advertised as free, but most require some form of advanced membership to get access to results. These applications are also often geared towards horticultural plants and not many agricultural crops. Most applications are also only used for identification and not prediction.

South Dakota producers have ease of access to several tools as South Dakota State University does provide some disease prediction tools that are readily available. The SD Mesonet Small Grains Tool can be used by producers/crop consultants to get a risk assessment for tan spot, Septoria, and leaf rust in spring and winter wheat. This tool lets producers select the growth stage, type of wheat (winter or spring), and choose a research station located closest to them. This tool is free and easy to use, but it is still limited to location within the state and common fungal pathogens. South Dakota State University also provides producers links to the FHB prediction tool in many different publications and website pages. Unlike the SD Mesonet Small Grains Tool, the FHB tool is nationwide and created by Penn State, The Ohio State University, K-State, and Scab USA. This tool allows producers to get Fusarium Head Blight risk assessments with 0-, 2-, 4-, and 6-day risk forecast. This tool helps producers to determine whether to apply fungicides or not. This tool can greatly help producers, but once again limited to only one crop and one pathogen and does not always utilize local weather conditions.

### **1.3 Models for Diseases of Interest**

A recent study in Stagonospora nodorum blotch prediction resulted in three different models. The most accurate model was a Random Forest (RF) model which used the three variables longitude, wheat residue, and cultivar resistance that had a sensitivity rate of 0.69 (Mehra et al., 2016). This model did not take into effect the weather patterns and water availability. In Indiana, a statistical model used days without precipitation between 26 March and 4 May along with total consecutive days when the minimum temperature was equal to or less than 7 °C between 4 April and 3 May. This model explained 86 percent of the variation in Stagonospora nodorum severity among years (Coakley et al., 1988). A stripe rust model known as WINDOW showed that 87 to 89 percent of variation in disease incidence could be explained using the following variables: mean minimum temperature, mean maximum temperature, total days average temperature less than 0 °C, total days maximum temp greater than 25 °C, total precipitation, precipitation frequency, total consecutive days with precipitation, and total consecutive days without precipitation (Coakley et al., 1988). The program used for WINDOW is now obsolete due to the age of the program and the fact that it was never publicly available due to cost.

More recent research on leaf and stripe rust prediction found that the variables dew point temperature (in °C), night temperature, and relative humidity were the most significant for leaf rust and stripe rust prediction (Rodriguez-Moreno et al., 2020). This model did not investigate stem rust and did not take into account the movement of rust spores into areas in which they do not overwinter. Stripe rust is becoming an increasingly important disease in the Northern Great Plains but does not overwinter in these states. Spores must travel via air currents from the southern regions of the United States to northern states such as South Dakota. Stem rust has been well controlled by resistant varieties for many years in the United, so it is also often excluded from these models. Unfortunately, stem rust resistance can break down and mutations can occur within the disease making stem rust still a risk that should be monitored.

Another model for the prediction of tan spot and Stagonospora nodorum blotch used the variables of leaf wetness duration in hours, precipitation in millimeters, accumulated growing degree days, relative humidity, and temperature. The previous variables, when combined, created the Backpropagation neural networks (BPNN) model that had a tan spot incidence accuracy of 84% with infection and 67% without. For Stagonospora, the BPNN model had a prediction accuracy of 86% in cases without infection and 61% percent in cases with infection (De Wolf & Francl, 2000).

### **1.4 Purpose of Project**

Currently no one model can predict all six diseases of interest to this project (stem rust, leaf rust, stripe rust, tan spot, Stagnospora nodorum blotch, Septoria tritici blotch). One of the goals of the National Predictive Modeling Tool Initiative (NPMTI), which this project is associated with, is to develop and validate predictive models for all six previously mentioned wheat diseases, and to distribute these models to the public. To develop these models, there are crucial sets of data that must be collected from the wheat growing states. Through this project, states are tasked with identifying historical wheat disease reports and incidence, collecting real-time disease data over four to five growing seasons, and submitting that information to help build comprehensive wheat disease models.

### **1.5 South Dakota NPMTI Objectives:**

The main objectives of this research project are to collect disease information in small plot research fields to determine how weather, cultivar, and residues affect disease development. Further, collect data and monitor for disease development in commercial wheat fields across South Dakota.

### 2. Literature Cited

Abdullah, S., Sehgal, S., Ali, S. 2017. Race Diversity of *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* in South Dakota and Response of Predominant Wheat Cultivars to Tan Spot. *Journal of Plant Pathology & Microbiology*, 8(5):1-7.

Aboukhaddour, R., Turkington, T., Strelkov, S. 2013. Race structure of *Pyrenophora triciti-repentis* (tan spot of wheat) in Alberta, Canada. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*, 35(2):256-268.

Ball, C.R. 1930. The history of American wheat improvement. *Agricultural History*, 4:48–71.

Bly, A. 2020. South Dakota Land Use Trends (2012-2017). SDSU Extension Website.

Bolton, M.D., Kolmer, J.A., Garvin, D.F. 2008. Wheat leaf rust caused by *Puccinia triticina*. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 9(5):563-75.

Carignano, M., Staggenborg, S., Shroyer, J. 2008. Management Practices to Minimize Tan Spot in a Continuous Wheat Rotation. *Agronomy Journal*, 100(1):145-153.

Chen, X. 2005. Epidemiology and control of stripe rust [*Puccinia striiformis f. sp tritici*] on wheat. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*, 27(3):314-337.

Ciuffetti, L.M. & Tuori, R.P. 1999, Advances in the Characterization of the *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*-Wheat Interaction. *Phytopathology*, 89(6):444-9.

Coakley, S.M., Line, R.F., McDaniel, L.R. 1988. Predicting Stripe Rust Severity on Winter Wheat Using an Improved Method for Analyzing Meteorological and Rust Data. *Phytopathology*, 78:543-550.

Cotuna, O., Paraschivu, M., Paraschivu, A., Sărățeanu, V. 2015. The influence of tillage, crop rotation and residue management on tan spot (*Drechslera tritici repentis. died. Shoemaker*) in winter wheat. *Research Journal of Agricultural Science*, 47(2): 13-21.

De Wolf, E.D., & Francl, L.J. 2000. Neural network classification of tan spot and stagonospora blotch infection periods in a wheat field environment. *Phytopathology*, 90(2):108-13.

Draz, I.S., Abou-Elseoud, M.S., Kamara, A.M., Alaa-Eldein, O.A., El-Bebany, A.F. 2015. Screening of wheat genotypes for leaf rust resistance along with grain yield. Annals of Agricultural Sciences, 60(1):29-39.

Eversmeyer, M.G., & Kramer, C.L. 2000. Epidemiology of Wheat Leaf and Stem Rust in the Central Great Plains of the USA. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 38:491-513.

Figueroa, M., Hammond-Kosack, K.E., Solomon, P.S. 2018. A review of wheat diseasesa field perspective. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 19(6):1523-1536.

Friskop, A., Mueller, D., Sisson, A. 2021. Wheat Disease Loss Estimates from the United States and Ontario Canada - 2021. *Crop Protection Network*, CPN-3018-21.

Gerlach, E. 2022. South Dakota Crop Production Report. *News Release National Agricultural Statistics Service*.

Hardies, E.W. & Hume, A.N. 1927. Wheat in South Dakota. *Research Bulletins of the South Dakota Agricultural Experiment Station (1887-2011)*. 222.

Jamil, S., Shahzad, R., Ahmed, S., Fatima, R., Zahid, R., Anwar, M., Iqbal, M.Z., Wang, X. 2020. Roles of Genetics, Genomics, and Breeding Approaches to Combat Stripe Rust of Wheat. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 7:580715.

Jin, Y., Szabo, L.J., Carson, M. 2010. Century-old mystery of *Puccinia striiformis* life history solved with the identification of *Berberis* as an alternate host. *Phytopathology*, 100(5):432-5.

Kettles, G.J., & Kanyuka, K. 2016. Dissecting the Molecular Interactions between Wheat and the Fungal Pathogen *Zymoseptoria tritici*. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7:508.

Kolmer, J.A., Jin, Y., Long, D.L. 2007. Leaf and Stem Rust of Wheat in the United States. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 58:631-638.

Kolmer, J. 2013. Leaf Rust of Wheat: Pathogen Biology, Variation and Host Resistance. *Forests*, 4(1):70-84.

Lamari, L., Strelkov, S.E., Yahyaoui, A., Orabi, J., Smith, R.B. 2003. The Identification of Two New Races of *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* from the Host Center of Diversity Confirms a One-to-One Relationship in Tan Spot of Wheat. *Phytopathology*, 93(4):391-396.

Leonard, K.J., & Szabo, L.J. 2005. Stem rust of small grains and grasses caused by *Puccinia graminis*. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 6(2):99-111.

Liu, Z., El-Basyoni, I., Kariyawasam, G., Zhang, G., Fritz, A., Hansen, J., Marais, F., Friskop, A., Chao, S., Akhunov, E., and Baenziger, P.S. 2015. Evaluation and Association Mapping of Resistance to Tan Spot and Stagonospora Nodorum Blotch in Adapted Winter Wheat Germplasm. *Plant Disease*, 99:10, 1333-1341.

Liu, T., Wan, A., Liu, D., Chen, X. 2017. Changes of Races and Virulence Genes in *Puccinia striiformis f. sp. tritici*, the Wheat Stripe Rust Pathogen, in the United States from 1968 to 2009. *Plant Disease*, 101(8):1522-1532.

Lyon, B. & Broders, K. 2017. Impact of climate change and race evolution on the epidemiology and ecology of stripe rust in central and eastern USA and Canada. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*, 39(4):385-392.

Martinez-Moreno, F. & Solis, I. 2019. Wheat rust evolution in Spain: a historical review. *Phytopathologia Mediterranea*, 58(1):3-16.

McDonald, B.A., & Mundt, C.C. 2016. How Knowledge of Pathogen Population Biology Informs Management of Septoria Tritici Blotch. *Phytopathology*, 106(9):948-55.

Mehra, L.K., Cowger, C., Weisz, R., Ojiambo, P.S. 2015. Quantifying the Effects of Wheat Residue on Severity of Stagonospora nodorum Blotch and Yield in Winter Wheat. *Phytopathology*, 105:11, 1417-1426.

Mehra, L.K., Cowger, C., Gross, K., Ojiambo, P.S. 2016. Predicting Pre-planting Risk of Stagonospora nodorum blotch in Winter Wheat Using Machine Learning Models. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 30(7):390.

Mehra, L. K., Adhikari, U., Ojiambo, P. S., Cowger, C. 2019. Septoria nodorum blotch of wheat. *The Plant Health Instructor*.

Paulsen, G.M. & Shroyer, J.P. 2008. The Early History of Wheat Improvement in the Great Plains. *Agronomy Journal*, 100: S-70-S-78.

Peterson, P.D. 2018. The Barberry Eradication Program in Minnesota for Stem Rust Control: A Case Study. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 56:203-223.

Ponomarenko A., Goodwin, S.B., Kema, G.H.J. 2011. Septoria tritici blotch (STB) of wheat. *Plant Health Instructor*.

Prandini, A., Sigolo, S., Filippi, L., Battilani, P., Piva, G. 2009. Review of predictive models for Fusarium head blight and related mycotoxin contamination in wheat. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 47(5):927-931.

Rodríguez-Moreno, V.M., Jiménez-Lagunes, A., Estrada-Avalos, J., Mauricio-Ruvalcaba, J.E., Padilla-Ramírez, J.S. 2020. Weather-data-based model: an approach for forecasting leaf and stripe rust on winter wheat. *Meteorological Applications*, 27:e1896.

Schwessinger, B., Chen, Y., Tien, R., Vogt, J.K., Sperschneider, J., Nagar, R., McMullan, M., Sicheritz-Ponten, T., Sorenson, C.K., Hovmoller, M.S., Rathjen, J.P., Justesen, A.F. 2020. Distinct Life Histories Impact Dikaryotic Genome Evolution in the Rust Fungus *Puccinia striiformis* Causing Stripe Rust in Wheat. *Genome Biology Evolution*, 12(5):597-617.

Shaber, A & Bockus, W.W. 1988. Tan Spot Effects on Yield and Yield Components Relative to Growth Stage in Winter Wheat. *Plant Disease*, 72:599-602.

Solomon, P.S., Lowe, R.G., Tan, K.C., Waters, O.D., Oliver, R.P. 2006. *Stagonospora nodorum*: cause of stagonospora nodorum blotch of wheat. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 7(3):147-56.

United States Department of Agriculture- Cereal Disease Lab (USDA-CDL). 2022. Wheat Leaf Rust. Retreived from: https://www.ars.usda.gov/midwest-area/stpaul/cerealdisease-lab/docs/cereal-rusts/wheat-leaf-rust/

United States Department of Agriculture- National Agriculture Statistics Service (USDA-NASS). 2022. 2022 State Agricultural Overview-South Dakota. Retrieved from: https://www.nass.usda.gov/Quick\_Stats/Ag\_Overview/stateOverview.php?state=SOUTH %20DAKOTA.

Wegulo, S. N. 2011. Tan Spot of Cereals. The Plant Health Instructor.

# Chapter 2. Examination of the Impact of Disease on Yield in Seven Winter Wheat Varieties

### 1. Introduction

Wheat breeding is focused on high yields, pathogen resistance, and tolerance to abiotic stress factors (Alemu, 2019). Disease resistance is often defined as the reduction of pathogen growth on or in the plant (Kumar & Un Nabi, 2015). There are two major types of disease resistance, qualitative and quantitative. Qualitative resistance, also called race specific resistance, is resistance based on specific major genes characterized by phenotype specificity, which makes it easier for new pathogen races to overcome resistance (Kumar & Un Nabi, 2015). Quantitative disease resistance refers to an incomplete or reduced level of resistance usually controlled by multiple quantitative trait loci, making it harder for resistance to break (Gou et al., 2023). As wheat is one of the most important food crops in the world, it is important to protect this vital crop from diseases and other threats. Diseases of wheat can reduce yields by a minimum of 20 percent on a global basis, increasing the importance of disease resistance (Cowger et al., 2022). Some of the most common wheat diseases that affect plants are caused by fungal pathogens, including leaf rust, stripe rust, stem rust, Stagonospora nodorum blotch, Septoria tritici blotch, and tan spot.

As wheat is widely grown and evaluated for disease resistance, there are different categories that evaluators, like plant breeders and plant pathologists, utilize such as seedling versus adult resistance and complete versus incomplete or intermediate resistance. Seedling resistance is often qualitative and race specific, making it easier for pathogens to overcome or "break" resistance than adult resistance which is often quantitative (Rutkoski et al., 2014). Complete resistance is resistance that does not allow growth of the pathogen resulting in no signs of the disease or presence of the pathogen. Incomplete/intermediate resistance is any resistance that is not complete so there is still some growth and development of the pathogen (Ribeiro Do Vale et al., 2001). Seedling resistance is typically race specific and adult resistance is typically effective against all races (Milus et al., 2015). Incorporation of both kinds of resistances can greatly help protect against diseases at various life stages.

Rust diseases of wheat are some of the most important and widespread plant pathogens in the wheat growing areas worldwide (Kahn et al., 2013). The three major wheat rust diseases across the world include leaf, stem, and stripe rust (*Puccinia triticina*, Puccinia graminis f. sp. tritici, and Puccinia striiformis respectively). Of the three, leaf rust is the most common and, under favorable conditions, can reduce wheat yields from 15 to 50 percent worldwide (Dinh et al., 2020). In wheat, there are 79 loci catalogued for leaf rust, Lr1-Lr79. The leaf rust loci such as Lr1, Lr10, and Lr21 are good examples of race-specific resistance genes that are effective in seedling and adult plants (Kolmer, 2013). Stem rust resistance is categorized in seedling versus adult resistance. In the United States, some of the most common stem rust resistance genes are Sr24, Sr36, Sr1R<sup>Amigo</sup>, and Sr31 (Olson et al., 2010). More than 140 quantitative trait loci for stripe rust resistance have been identified within 47 different chromosomal regions (Garnica et al., 2013). The only chromosome with no stripe rust resistance found is 5D; others such as 2B have regions that contain one or more forms of resistance (Rosewarne et al., 2013). Chromosome 2B has a region containing the race-specific seedling resistance loci Yr27and Yr31 (Rosewarne et al., 2013). Some of these are the same trait loci for resistance to

leaf rust such as *Lr39* and *Yr18* (Suenaga et al., 2003). Some common genes for all stage resistance used throughout the world for stripe rust resistance include *Yr1*, *Yr6*, *Yr7*, *Yr9*, *Yr10*, *Yr17*, *Yr24/26*, and *Yr27* (Feng et al., 2018).

*Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* (tan spot) has three different host-selective toxins (effectors), Ptr ToxA, Ptr ToxB, and Ptr ToxC. Ptr ToxA is the main effector in tan spot (See et al., 2018) and responsible for the development of necrosis while Ptr ToxB and Ptr ToxC are responsible for the development of chlorosis (Chu et al., 2008). Tan spot is then broken down into 8 different races with different combinations of the three toxins. Race 1 produces Ptr ToxA and C, Race 2 produces only Ptr ToxA, Race 3 produces only Ptr ToxC, Race 4 produces no toxins, Race 5 produces only Ptr ToxB, Race 6 produces Ptr ToxB and C, Race 7 produces Ptr ToxA and B, and Race 8 produces all three toxins (Faris et al., 2013). There are lines of wheat with qualitative resistance to better control multiple toxins, and there are quantitative lines that are resistant to specific toxins.

Like tan spot, Stagonospora nodorum blotch (*Parastagonospora nodorum*) produces many toxins, all of which are necrotrophic. These toxins are SnToxA and SnTox1-7, with SnToxA being nearly identical to PtrToxA (Altameemi et al., 2021). Breeding resistant lines is hard due to quantitative trait loci with over twenty distinct different quantitative trait loci being identified on several different chromosomes of wheat (Katoch et al., 2021). Stacking of these known quantitative trait loci can be used to created qualitative resistance in wheat lines (Altameemi et al., 2021).

Septoria tritici blotch (*Zymoseptoria tritici*) causes similar symptoms to tan spot and Stagonospora nodorum blotch and is often confused with the two. These symptoms lead scientists to believe that Septoria tritici also has toxins similar to the other two leaf spot pathogens, but few candidate compounds have been found (Anderegg et al., 2022). Resistant cultivars are one of the main ways to manage Septoria with a total of 22 resistance genes and 89 quantitative trait loci being identified for resistance as of 2020 which are used for both quantitative and qualitative resistance (Riaz et al., 2020).

With many available winter wheat varieties, it is important to know which traits are needed for the environment they are to be planted in. Where the crop is being grown, disease history, and rotation need to be considered when choosing a variety. Choosing a winter wheat variety popular in Texas to plant in South Dakota would most likely not be in the best interest of the grower because of differences in soils, pests, growing season length, and disease prevalence. If a field has a known history of disease and cannot be rotated it would be best to plant a variety with resistance. Knowing what was previously grown in a field is helpful in determining what diseases could be present in plant residues and what nutrients may be lacking, which can help determine what variety would be best (Kumar & Un Nabi, 2015). A grower needs to consider as many performance factors as possible when choosing what to grow.

### **1.2 Objectives**

To understand the severity of disease within the different plots, records of the amount of disease on each variety throughout the experiment to determine the differences between varieties will be taken on a weekly basis throughout the growing season This will be done to investigate if the reported tolerance and susceptibility of each variety held true in a wheat on wheat no till rotation. Measurements will also be taken to determine if the difference in disease and yield increased statistically significantly with a wheat on wheat rotation during the experiment.

### 2. Methodology

### 2.1 Selection of Varieties

Seven different varieties of winter wheat were selected based on different susceptibility and tolerance of the six pathogens chosen by the National Predictive Modeling Tool Initiative for monitoring. The varieties and disease susceptibility to each of the six diseases covered in this project can be seen in Table 1. All varieties were bred in South Dakota and are heavily utilized wheat varieties across the state in the present or in the past.

### 2.2 Field Site Selection

Small plot trials were planted directly into previous year's winter wheat residues at South Dakota State University's Volga research station at approximately 44.300046, -96.927202. Plots were planted 8 rows across and 16 feet in length. All residue from previous years was left on the field, simulating wheat-on-wheat rotation. The plantings were done in mid-to-late September of 2020 and 2021. No fungicides were applied during the experiment to encourage disease development. Herbicides were applied in the late spring of both years to control weeds such as foxtail and amaranth species.

### 2.3 Disease Ratings

2021: From Feekes 10.5 to Feekes 11.3, three visual disease assessments were performed. Six tillers in 6 randomly selected locations within each plot (total of 108

ratings per plot per disease) were visually rated for Stagonospora and Septoria leaf blotches, tan spot, and leaf, stripe, and stem rusts using a standard leaf area diagram (Figure 1). Spot diseases were rated as a complex due to the inability to tell them apart and simply referred to as 'spot'. Flag leaf, flag leaf minus one, and flag leaf minus two were rated. As the season progressed, flag leaf minus one and two senesced and could no longer be accurately rated.

2022: Disease was assessed from Feekes 9 to Feekes 11.1 for a total of four rating time points. Stand counts were extremely low, due to drought, so 6 tillers in 3 randomly selected locations within the plot were rated. Differences in amounts of disease ratings were due to the grad student not being recruited until a later date in 2021.

### 2.4 Plot Harvest

2021: Harvest was done the first week of July using a 1987 Wintersteiger combine. Each plot was individually bagged and manually cleaned, weighed, and measured for test weight and moisture.

2022: Harvest was done the second week of July using a Zurn small plot combine. Each plot was individually bagged and measured by the combine and manually for weight, test weight, and moisture. The bags did not have to be manually cleaned due to the improved screens on the Zurn.

### 2.5 Statistics

All statistics were done using Systat's SigmaPlot Inpixion version 15.0 (Inpixon - systatsoftware.com, 2023). One-way ANOVAs were done comparing each variety at all three leaves (F, F-1, F-2) separately for both years. One-way ANOVAs were also done

comparing each variety's yield to one another, as well as comparing the two years disease severities for each variety separately. All pairwise multiple comparison procedures were done using the Holm-Sidak method with a power of preformed test alpha of 0.050. SigmaPlot was also used to create all graphs and to determine all descriptive statistics. The growth stages used for comparison were Heading (Feekes 10.5) and Milk (Feekes 11) because they were sampled in both years.

### 3. Results

### 3.1 2021 Disease Ratings

During the 2021 growing season leaf spot complex, leaf rust, and stripe rust were observed. The mean spot disease complex disease severity can be seen in Tables 2 and 3 for heading and milk stage in 2021 and it varied between varieties. There were differences between spot disease percentages in different varieties and on different leaves which can be seen in Figure 2A and 2B. Spot severity at heading was greatest in the varieties 'Draper' and 'Redfield' with p-values <0.001 on flag leaf (Table 2); with 'Draper' having a greater amount of spot disease than 'Redfield'. For flag leaf minus one at heading, 'Redfield' and 'Draper' were significantly greater than 'Ideal' and 'Oahe' in amounts of spot observed (p-value <0.05). 'Wesley' was significantly greater than 'Ideal' (p-value 0.019) (Table 2). Flag leaf minus two at heading had the greatest amount of spot disease on the variety 'Redfield' (p-value <0.001) and there were no significant differences between the six other varieties (Table 2). To summarize 'Draper' had the highest amount of disease severity over all other varieties. 'Redfield' was greater than all but 'Draper', and 'Wesley' was only significantly higher than 'Ideal'.

At milk stage in 2021, 'Wesley' had a significantly greater amount of spot disease on the flag leaf than all other varieties (p-values of <0.001 except for 'Draper' which had a p-value of 0.004 and 'Redfield' which had a p-value of 0.008 when compared to 'Wesley') (Table 3 and Figure 2B). Spot disease on flag minus one during milk was greatest in 'Redfield' with a p-value of 0.003. The second greatest amount of leaf spot disease at this timepoint was in 'Draper' with statistically significant (p-value 0.008). The variety 'Wesley' was statistically significantly higher than that of 'Ideal with a p-value 0.019 (Table 3). In flag leaf minus two observations, 'Redfield' had the greatest statistically significant amount of spot disease with a p-value <0.001 over all varieties except in comparison with 'Expedition' which had a p-value 0.002 (Table 3).

There was a statistical difference between varieties and leaves in the amount of stripe rust at heading (p-value of <0.001), which can be seen in Figure 3A and Table 4. Stripe rust was significantly greater in the variety 'Expedition' (p-value of <0.001) than the six other varieties (Table 4 and Figure 3A). Stripe rust on flag leaf at milk stage was significantly greater in 'Expedition' than all other varieties, with a p-value of <0.001 'Ideal' being ranked second in severity with p-values ranging from 0.0015 to 0.038 (Table 5 and Figure 3B). There was some leaf rust on the leaves as well at milk stage, but there were no significant differences between varieties (Table 5).

### 3.2 2022 Disease Ratings

In 2022, only the leaf spot disease complex was observed in significant amounts, which can be seen in Table 6 and Figure 4A and 4B. A few instances of stripe rust were observed, but not enough to perform statistical analysis or for the pathogen to have any effect on the plants. The spot disease complex at heading (Feekes 10.5) was significantly

greater in the variety 'Expedition' over varieties 'Draper' (p-value 0.002) and 'Ideal' (p-value-0.032). 'Redfield' and 'Thompson' also had significantly greater amounts of disease on flag leaf than 'Draper' (p-values 0.009 and 0.023 respectively) (Table 6). 'Expedition' was also significantly greater (p-value 0.014) than 'Draper' on flag leaf minus one but there were no other significant differences between varieties (Table 6 and Figure 4A). There was no difference between varieties on flag leaf minus two with a p-value of 0.116.

At milk stage (Feekes 11.2) on flag leaf, 'Ideal', 'Thompson', 'Expedition', and 'Oahe' had significantly greater amounts (p-values <0.001, 0.002, 0.008, and 0.017 respectively) of spot than 'Draper'. 'Thompson' and 'Oahe' also had significantly greater amounts (p-values 0.017 and 0.049 respectively) of spot than 'Ideal' (Table 6 and Figure 4B). On flag leaf minus one the only significant difference was 'Wesley' and 'Draper' (pvalue-0.040) (Table 6). Once more, there was not a significant difference between varieties on flag leaf minus two ratings with a p-value of 0.223.

A comparison of varieties to each other per growth stage per year was completed. The overall results were that there were many variables that create high amounts of significant data. 'Draper' continuously has more significant differences from other varieties in both years. 'Wesley' and 'Ideal' were also different from the other varieties at certain timepoints (Table 7).

### 3.3 Difference in Yield

There were no significant differences between varieties and years at an alpha of 0.05 (Figure 5).

### 4. Discussion

The objective of this study was to examine disease presence in South Dakota on seven varieties of winter wheat developed and commonly grown in the state in an effort to establish a baseline of disease severity for more advanced residue and variety trials. All varieties chosen were developed by South Dakota State University breeders and used within variety trials for height, lodging, and yield amounts within the last five years. The resistance and tolerance of each variety to the diseases surveyed can be seen in Table 1.

Neither 2021 nor 2022 were ideal for fungal pathogen development with low amounts of precipitation and high temperatures. From planting to harvest for the 2021 winter wheat, there was only about 260 millimeters of precipitation in total and for the 2022 winter wheat from planting to harvest there was approximately 423 millimeters of precipitation with the average amount in South Dakota per year during this time period typically around 456 millimeters (U.S. Climate, 2023). All fungal pathogens require an extended period of leaf wetness to grow and infect plants. They also have preferred temperatures for growth and development.

Leaf rust, which was rarely observed in this study, requires free water on the host and prefers temperatures ranging from 10-25 °C (Bolton et al., 2008). Stripe rust, which was seen in significant amounts on the susceptible variety 'Expedition', can grow in temperatures ranging from 2.8 to 21.7 °C but has been found to grow best at about 9.7 °C (Signh et al., 2017). Stripe rust is more similar to leaf rust with the optimal temperature for spore germination being 22 °C (Roelfs & Bushnell, 1985). The average temperature for the Volga Research Station in June of 2021 was 23 °C and the total precipitation for the month of June was 18.22 millimeters. June was the month where most surveys were
done and during that time conditions were not favorable for the development of the three rust diseases. 'Expedition' did have significantly more stripe rust than all other varieties, but it still had less than 5 percent leaf cover on average at milk stage as seen in Figure 4A. This likely did not result in any significant decrease in overall plant health and yield being there were no significant differences between varieties and yields (Figure 5). In 2022, there was no development of any of the rust pathogens. The average temperature for the month of June was 22 °C and total precipitation was 42.69 millimeters. This should have been more favorable to rust pathogen development than 2021, but Nebraska, Kansas, Oklahoma, and Texas were abnormally dry or in drought conditions according to the U.S. Drought Monitor (Fuchs, 2023). The development of rust pathogens is also dependent on the movement of inoculum from the southern Great Plains to the Northern Great Plains.

Like the rust pathogens, the spot pathogens also have preferred temperatures and periods of wetness. Tan spot prefers temperatures of about 20 °C and needs 6 to 24 hours of free moisture to develop (Wegulo, 2011). Stagonospora nodorum blotch prefers temperatures ranging from 20 to 28 °C with extended periods of free moisture as well (Frieje & Wise, 2015). Septoria tritici prefers cooler temperatures ranging from 15 to 20 °C with frequent rain followed by 48 hours of leaf wetness or high humidity (Hollaway et al., 2022). Neither year was favorable for the development of Septoria tritici blotch.

At the time of rating, all spot disease symptoms were rated as a complex referred to as spot disease, because it is extremely hard to differentiate between the three pathogens in a field setting, but previous recordings at the Volga Research Station were of tan spot. Because tan spot had been previously recorded, we suspected it to be the most common spot disease present. With further analysis of inoculum within the residue, greater amounts of Stagonospora nodorum blotch were found than tan spot, and Septoria leaf blotch. Stagonospora often occurs in tandem with tan spot and Septoria leaf blotch and when this occurs, it can be difficult to determine which disease is present visually (Downie et al., 2021). Stagonospora nodorum blotch being present may explain some of the results that showed high amounts of spot disease. 'Draper' having the greatest amount of spot on the flag leaf at heading in 2021 was not expected as the variety has some tolerance to tan spot, but Stagonospora nodorum blotch being present along with tan spot the results would make more sense. 'Draper' has not been rated for Stagonospora nodorum blotch, so its level of tolerance or susceptibility is unknown. 'Draper' was also different from the other varieties with all three leaves rated having no significant difference in severity between them at heading. In all other varieties, there was at least a significant difference between flag leaf and flag leaf minus one at heading. 'Redfield' serves as a susceptible check in tan spot while being tolerant or unrated for the other two spot pathogens, so it was not unexpected for it to be higher at heading and milk stage if tan spot was what was present. 'Redfield' is tolerant to Stagonospora nodorum blotch, so the results further raise the question on what was affecting 'Draper'. 'Expedition' is susceptible or not rated for all diseases surveyed, except stem rust which was not seen in any variety both years, therefore it having the highest disease ratings for stripe rust at both observation points was not unexpected. 'Expedition' also had the third highest amount of spot symptoms, but as it was susceptible to both tan spot and Stagonospora nodorum blotch, the variety does not help to determine which of the two was present or most severe.

'Draper' being significantly lower in the amount of spot compared to other varieties in 2022 makes more sense than 2021. As previously mentioned, 'Draper' is tolerant to tan spot while 'Ideal', 'Redfield', 'Thompson', and 'Expedition' are susceptible (Table 1). The only variety that was not significantly higher in amounts of spot in comparison to 'Draper' was 'Wesley' which is also tolerant to tan spot (Table 1). 'Thompson' had the greatest amount of spot (p-value <0.001) at milk stage but is not rated for its susceptibility or tolerance for Stagonospora nodorum blotch, meaning this disease could be present as well tan spot. 'Oahe' was the second highest spot rating (pvalue 0.0002), but unlike 'Thompson' is tolerant to tan spot. 'Oahe' has no rating for Stagonospora nodorum blotch, meaning that it could have been the pathogen causing necrotic lesions on the leaves. 'Expedition' was the next highest in disease ratings at milk stage in 2022, but as previously stated is susceptible to both tan spot and Stagonospora nodorum blotch. The next highest was 'Redfield' with a p-value 0.017 in comparison to other varieties at milk stage in 2022 which is tolerant to Stagonospora nodorum blotch and susceptible to tan spot. The results for 2022 are more in favor of tan spot than 2021. The varieties with the most disease development were all susceptible to tan spot. The one variety that raises questions in 2022 is 'Ideal'. 'Ideal' is susceptible to both tan spot and Stagonospora nodorum blotch but did not have any significantly higher amounts of spot disease than all other varieties. 'Thompson' and 'Oahe' had significantly higher amounts of spot severity than 'Ideal' with p-values of 0.017 and 0.049 respectively. However, it is possible that Stagonospora nodorum blotch was the main disease present. 'Thompson' and 'Oahe' have not been evaluated for resistance Stagonsopora nodorum blotch and may be more susceptible than 'Ideal'.

When comparing all varieties to each other, the were many factors that affected our ability to decipher the results. There were high amounts of significant relationships suggesting that there are too many variables to truly draw conclusions. It can be seen in Table 7 that in 2021 heading 'Draper' and 2021 milk 'Wesley' were significantly different from the other varieties. In 2022 at heading 'Draper' and 'Ideal' were different from other varieties. Interestingly, there were no significant interactions in 2022 milk stage suggesting that drought and spot disease were affecting all varieties equally. It can be hypothesized that 'Draper' is more resistant to tan spot, which develops early in the season, and may demonstrate some tolerance to the other spot diseases that develop later in the season, causing it to be different from other varieties.

The results were not as expected and beg the question of whether tan spot or Stagonospora nodorum blotch is the most commonly present disease in the small plots. Tan spot was what was previously believed to be the most common present, but the presence of Stagonospora nodorum blotch inoculum and 'Draper', a tan spot tolerant variety, having a significantly higher amount of spot pathogen development, could mean that tan spot is not the most common residue borne pathogen at the research station.

#### 5. Conclusion

Very little amounts of diseases were observed both years in South Dakota, most likely due to unfavorable weather conditions. Spot diseases are also extremely hard to tell apart from one another so while all spot lesions were rated as a complex, they were suspected to be tan spot but some may have been Stagonospora nodorum blotch or Septoria tritici blotch. To better understand the differences between varieties and results, the study needs to continue and improve. To truly understand what is happening the identification of what spot pathogens are present through molecular methods needs to happen. A tolerance or susceptibility rating also needs to be established for both Stagonospora nodorum blotch and Septoria tritici blotch in all varieties to help narrow down what is happening in the field. This will take multiple different experiments over multiple years.

## 6. Literature Cited

Alemu, Gadisa. 2019. Wheat Breeding for Disease Resistance: Review. *Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology*, 4(2):1-10.

AlTameemi, R., Gill, H.S., Ali, S., Ayana, G., Halder, J., Sidhu, J.S., Gill, U.S., Turnipseed, B., Hernandez, J.L.G., Sehgal, S.K. 2021. Genome-wide association analysis permits characterization of Stagonospora nodorum blotch (SNB) resistance in hard winter wheat. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1):12570.

Anderegg, J., Kirchgessner, N., Kronenberg, L., McDonald, B. 2022. Automated Quantitative Measurement of Yellow Halos Suggests Activity of Necrotrophic Effectors in Septoria tritici Blotch. *Phytopathology*, 112(12):2560-2573.

Bolton, M.D., Kolmer, J.A., Garvin, D.F. 2008. Wheat leaf rust caused by *Puccinia triticina*. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 9(5):563-75.

Chu, C.G., Friesen, T.L., Xu, S.S., Faris, J.D. 2008. Identification of novel tan spot resistance loci beyond the known host-selective toxin insensitivity genes in wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 117(6):873-81.

Cowger, C., Bulli, P., Chen, F., Lillemo, M., Maccaferri, M. 2022. Editorial: Advances in breeding for wheat disease resistance. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 13:1034506.

Dinh, H.X., Singh, D., Periyannan, S., Park, R.F., Pourkheirandish, M. 2020. Molecular genetics of leaf rust resistance in wheat and barley. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 133(7):2035-2050.

Downie, R.C., Lin, M., Corsi, B., Ficke, A., Lillemo, M., Oliver, R.P., Phan, H.T.T., Tan, K.C., Cockram, J. 2021. Septoria Nodorum Blotch of Wheat: Disease Management and Resistance Breeding in the Face of Shifting Disease Dynamics and a Changing Environment. *Phytopathology*, 111(6):906-920.

Faris, J.D., Liu, Z., Xu, S.S. 2013. Genetics of tan spot resistance in wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 126(9):2197-217.

Feng, J., Wang, M., See, D.R., Chao, S., Zheng, Y., Chen, X. 2018. Characterization of Novel Gene Yr79 and Four Additional Quantitative Trait Loci for All-Stage and High-Temperature Adult-Plant Resistance to Stripe Rust in Spring Wheat PI 182103. *Phytopathology*, 108(6):737-747.

Frieje, A., & Wise, K. 2015. Disease of wheat; Stagonospora Glume Blotch . *Purdue Extension*, BP-144-W.

Fuchs, B. 2023. U.S. Drought Monitor. Retrieved from: https://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/

Garnica, D.P., Upadhyaya, N.M., Dodds, P.N., Rathjen, J.P. 2013. Strategies for Wheat Stripe Rust Pathogenicity Identified by Transcriptome Sequencing. *PLoS One*, 8(6):e67150.

Gou, M., Balint-Kurti, P., Xu, M., Yang, Q. 2023. Quantitative disease resistance: Multifaceted players in plant defense. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, 65(2):594-610.

Hekuran, V., Belul, G., Foto, K., Halit, S., Thanas, R. 2012. The relationship between diseases index of Septoria leaf blotch, leaf rust, and yield losses in bread wheat cultivar in Albania. Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering, B1:957-965.

Hollaway, G., Dadu, H., Milgate, A., Thomas, G., Garrad, T., Poole, N., & Lopez-Ruiz, F. 2022. Septoria tritici blotch in wheat . *Grains Research and Development Corporation*.

*Inpixon - systatsoftware.com*. 2023. Retrieved from systatsoftware.com: https://systatsoftware.com/sigmaplot/

Katoch, S., Sharma, V., Sharma, D., Salwan, R., Rana, S.K. 2021. Biology and molecular interactions of *Parastagonospora nodorum* blotch of wheat. *Planta*, 255(1):21.

Khan, M. H., Bukhari, A., Dar, Z., Razvi, S.M. 2013. Status and strategies in breeding for rust resistance in wheat. *Agricultural Sciences*, 04:292-301.

Kolmer, J. 2013. Leaf Rust of Wheat: Pathogen Biology, Variation and Host Resistance. *Forests*, 4(1):70-84.

Kumar, D. & Un Nabi, S. 2015. Breeding for Disease Resistance. *Agrobios News Letter*, Vol. XIV. 83-84.

Milus, E.A., Lee, K.D., Brown-Guedira, G. 2015. Characterization of Stripe Rust Resistance in Wheat Lines with Resistance Gene Yr17 and Implications for Evaluating Resistance and Virulence. *Phytopathology*, 105(8):1123-30.

Olson, E. L., Brown-Guedira, G., Marshall, D. S., Jin, Y., Mergoum, M., Lowe, I., & Dubcovsky, J. 2010. Genotyping of U.S. wheat germplasm for presence of stem rust resistance genes Sr24, Sr36 and sr1RS<sup>Amigo</sup>. *Crop Science*, *50*(2), 668-675.

Riaz, A., KockAppelgren, P., Hehir, J.G., Kang, J., Meade, F., Cockram, J., Milbourne, D., Spink, J., Mullins, E., Byrne, S. 2020. Genetic Analysis Using a Multi-Parent Wheat Population Identifies Novel Sources of Septoria Tritici Blotch Resistance. *Genes* (Basel), 11(8):887.

Ribeiro Do Vale, F.X., Parlevliet, J.E., Zambolim, L. 2001. Concepts in plant disease resistance. *Fitopatologia Brasileira*, 26:577-589.

Roelfs, A.P. & Bushnell, W.R. 1985. Wheat and Rye Stem Rust in *The Cereal Rusts-Diseases, Distribution, Epidemiology, and Control*. Academic Press Inc, Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers, Orlando, FL.

Rosewarne, G.M., Herrera-Foessel, S.A., Singh, R.P., Huerta-Espino, J., Lan, C.X., He, Z.H. 2013. Quantitative trait loci of stripe rust resistance in wheat. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 126, 2427–2449.

Rutkoski, J.E., Poland, J.A., Singh, R.P., Huerta-Espino, J., Bhavani, S., Barbier, H., Rouse, M.N., Jannink, J.-L. and Sorrells, M.E. 2014. Genomic Selection for Quantitative Adult Plant Stem Rust Resistance in Wheat. *The Plant Genome*, 7(3): plantgenome2014.02.0006.

See, P.T., Marathamuthu, K., Iagallo, E., Oliver, R., Moffat, C. 2018. Evaluating the importance of the tan spot ToxA-Tsn1 interaction in Australian wheat varieties. *Plant Pathology*, 67(5).

Singh, R., Mahmoudpour, A., Rajkumar, M., Narayana, R. 2017. A review on stripe rust of wheat, its spread, identification and management at field level. *Research on Crops*, 18(3):528-533.

Suenaga, K., Singh, R.P., Huerta-Espino, J., William, H.M. 2003. Microsatellite markers for genes lr34/yr18 and other quantitative trait Loci for leaf rust and stripe rust resistance in bread wheat. *Phytopathology*, 93(7):881-90.

U.S. Climate Data. 2023. *Climate-Brookings South Dakota*. Retrieved from U.S. Climate Data: https://www.usclimatedata.com/climate/brookings/south-dakota/united-states/ussd0041

Wegulo, S. N. 2011. Tan Spot of Cereals. The Plant Health Instructor.

# 7. Tables and Figures

Variety	Parastagonospora nodorum	Zymoseptoria tritici	Pyrenophora tritici- repentis	Puccinia triticina	Puccinia striiformis	Puccinia graminis
Draper	No Rating	No Rating	Tolerant	Tolerant	Susceptible	Susceptible
Ideal	Susceptible	No Rating	Susceptible	Tolerant	Tolerant	Susceptible
Redfield	Tolerant	No Rating	Susceptible	Susceptible	Tolerant	Tolerant
Thompson	No Rating	No Rating	Susceptible	Tolerant	Tolerant	Tolerant
Expedition	Susceptible	No Rating	Susceptible	Susceptible	Susceptible	Tolerant
Wesley	No Rating	No Rating	Tolerant	Susceptible	Susceptible	Tolerant
Oahe	No Rating	No Rating	Tolerant	Tolerant	Tolerant	Tolerant

Table 1: The susceptibility of the seven varieties utilized in this study to the six different pathogens of interest to this research project.

Table	2: The mean	percentage of disease	e covering F, F-	1, and F-2 o	during heading	stage in
2021	Superscripts	indicate significance	between group	$s^1$ .		

Variety	Spot F	Spot F-1	Spot F-2
Draper	0.416 <sup>abcdei</sup>	0.411 <sup>mp</sup>	0.429 <sup>t</sup>
Ideal	0.0153 <sup>af</sup>	$0.0417^{lmo}$	0.247 <sup>r</sup>
Redfield	0.229 <sup>fghijk</sup>	0.439 <sup>ln</sup>	1.878 <sup>qrstuv</sup>
Thompson	$0.0174^{bg}$	0.226	$0.270^{s}$
Expedition	0.0688 <sup>ek</sup>	0.263	0.921 <sup>v</sup>
Wesley	0.0521 <sup>dhj</sup>	0.382°	0.489 <sup>u</sup>
Oahe	0.0340 <sup>c</sup>	0.0584 <sup>np</sup>	0.202 <sup>q</sup>

Table 3: The mean percentage of disease covering F and F-1 at milk stage in 2021. Superscripts indicate significance.<sup>2</sup>

Variety	Spot F	Spot F-1
Draper	0.538 <sup>e</sup>	1.101 <sup>io</sup>
Ideal	0.0965 <sup>a</sup>	0.640 <sup>hn</sup>
Redfield	0.581 <sup>f</sup>	5.894 <sup>lmnopq</sup>
Thompson	0.162 <sup>c</sup>	1.182 <sup>jp</sup>
Expedition	0.469 <sup>d</sup>	2.235 <sup>kq</sup>
Wesley	1.295 <sup>abcdef</sup>	12.654 <sup>ghijkl</sup>
Oahe	0.104 <sup>b</sup>	0.580 <sup>gm</sup>

<sup>2-</sup> a) <0.001, b) <0.001, c) <0.001, d) <0.001, e) 0.004, f) 0.008, g) <0.001, h) <0.001, i) <0.001, j) <0.001, k) <0.001, l) <0.001, m) <0.001, n) <0.001, o) <0.001, p) <0.001, q) 0.006.

Variety	Stripe	Stripe	Stripe
_	Rust F	Rust F-1	Rust F-2
Draper	0.0410 <sup>d</sup>	0.115	0.0489
Ideal	$0.0757^{\rm f}$	0.553	0.321
Redfield	0.00486 <sup>b</sup>	0.0556	0.0182
Thompson	0.0361°	0.174	0.213
Expedition	0.223 <sup>abcdef</sup>	0.164	0.171
Wesley	0.191 <sup>e</sup>	0.119	0.276
Oahe	$0.00417^{a}$	0.0660	0.0331

Table 4: Mean percentage of rust disease covering F, F-1, and F-2 at heading stage in 2021. Superscripts indicate significance.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>3-</sup> P-values are as follows: a) <0.001, b) <0.001, c) <0.001, d) <0.001, e) 0.002, f) 0.010.

Table 5. Milk stage 2021 rust disease. Superscripts indicate significance.<sup>4</sup>

Variety	Leaf Rust	Stripe	Leaf Rust	Stripe
	F	Rust F	F-1	Rust F-1
Draper	0.0146	0.0403 <sup>ag</sup>	0.000	0.117
Ideal	0.00625	1.447 <sup>fghij</sup>	0.0152	0.568
Redfield	0.00278	0.0667 <sup>ci</sup>	0.000	0.0240
Thompson	0.00486	0.189 <sup>dj</sup>	0.000	1.619
Expedition	0.00486	3.170 <sup>abcdef</sup>	0.0103	2.908
Wesley	0.00417	0.294 <sup>e</sup>	0.000806	0.515
Oahe	0.00486	0.0562 <sup>bh</sup>	0.00316	0.274

<sup>4-</sup> a) <0.001, b) <0.001, c) <0.001, d) <0.001, e) <0.001, f) <0.001, g) 0.015, h) 0.016, i) 0.016, j) 0.038.

Table 6: The mean percentage of spot per leaf and variety at heading and milk in 2022. Superscripts indicate that significance occurred between groups.<sup>5</sup>

Variety	Draper	Ideal	Redfield	Thompson	Expedition	Wesley	Oahe
F	0.416 <sup>abc</sup>	0.0153 <sup>d</sup>	0.229°	0.0174 <sup>b</sup>	$0.0688^{ad}$	0.0521	0.0340
heading							
<b>F-1</b>	0.411 <sup>e</sup>	0.0417	0.439	0.226	0.263 <sup>e</sup>	0.382	0.0854
heading							
<b>F-2</b>	0.429	0.247	1.878	0.270	0.921	0.489	0.202
heading							
F milk	3.869 <sup>fghi</sup>	5.149 <sup>jk</sup>	$8.507^{i}$	$9.751^{fj}$	8.833 <sup>h</sup>	7.250 <sup>gk</sup>	9.282
F-1 milk	23.639 <sup>1</sup>	29.554	31.954	35.018	35.492	39.136 <sup>1</sup>	36.094
F-2 milk	50.222	44.903	46.905	33.115	51.429	45.000	54.760

<sup>5-</sup> The p-values are as follows: a) 0.002, b) 0.009, c) 0.023, d) 0.032, e) 0.014, f) <0.001, g) 0.002, h) 0.008, i) 0.017, j) 0.017, k) 0.049, l) 0.040.

Variety	Heading	Milk 2021	Heading 2022	Milk 2022
	2021			
Draper	0.67 <sup>abcde</sup>	0.738 <sup>out</sup>	2.679 <sup>wyz!#</sup>	19.229
Ideal	0.101 <sup>afi</sup>	0.378 kptv	3.087 <sup>xz@\$</sup>	21.927
Redfield	0.763 <sup>fgh</sup>	2.798 <sup>pqrs</sup>	4.657 <sup>!@</sup>	23.309
Thompson	0.171 <sup>ch</sup>	0.607 <sup>mr</sup>	5.938 <sup>wx</sup>	22.884
Expedition	0.391 <sup>eij</sup>	1.202 <sup>nsv</sup>	5.457 <sup>y</sup>	24.107
Wesley	0.297 <sup>d</sup>	6.526 klmno	4.021	22.5889
Oahe	0.111 <sup>bgj</sup>	0.293 <sup>lqu</sup>	4.53#\$	27.002

Table 7: The overall mean percentage of disease at heading and milk in 2021 and 2022. Superscripts indicate significance between groups, all p-values are  $\leq 0.005$ .

Severity grade	Disease severity (%)	SADs (standard area diagrams)	Description of disease severity for wheat leaf rust (Puccinia recondita f. sp. tritici; Prt)		
0	0		No uredie visible, nekrotike lesions may be detected		
1	0.1-5		Small uredie appear, pustula are surrounded in a defined necrotic area.		
2	5.1-25		Spacious uredie of average size, necrotic lesions clearly defined		
3	25.1-50		Uredia are large, light cloroses appear in the center of infection, no visible necrosis.		
4	50.1-75		Uredia are mainly large or often combined, klorotike areas may be visible		
5	75.1-100		Uredia are mainly large or often combined, Klorotike		

Table 2 Standard area diagrams used to estimate Septoria leaf blotch (*Septoria tritici* Roberge in Desmaz) in the ATTC, Lushnje, Albania. (Images for SADs created using severity pro software)

Severity grade	Disease severity in %	SADs (standard area diagrams)	Description of disease severity for Septoria leaf blotch (Septoria tritici Roberge in Desmaz)			
0	0		No pycnidial formation, no symptoms or occasional hypersensitive fleck			
1	0.1-5	Call Marine and	No or only occasional isolated pycnidia formed			
2	5.1-25	State State State	Very light pycnidial formation			
3	25.1-50	C. H. Shirth Market	Light pycnidial formation			
4	50.1-75		Moderate pycnidial formation lesions coalescing considerably			
5	75.1-100		Large, abundant pycnidia, lesions coalescing extensively			

Figure 1: Standard leaf area diagrams used to accurately estimate the percentage of leaf covered by disease. (Hakuran, et al., 2012)



Figure 2. Yield data for both 2021 and 2022. There are no significant differences between variety or year at an alpha of 0.05.

#### Chapter 3: The Influence of Residue Amount on Disease Severity and Yield

## **1. Introduction**

In recent years no-till farming has become the main cropping system for the state of South Dakota with about 50% of crops being under no-tillage (Tonneson, 2020). Notillage is a farming practice that leaves previous residues on the soil surface and does not bury them like conventional tillage. The retention of soil residues has several benefits related to improving soil health including to help increase soil microorganisms, decrease greenhouse gas release, and improve water infiltration (Bly et al., 2019). These are all favorable to farmers and growers. Areas of South Dakota can be dry and windy, which can result in the loss of topsoil. However, there are also negative impacts with the increase in no-till cropping.

No-till and minimal tillage practices can increase the risk of disease epidemics as many pathogens can survive on residues of host plants during the winter and other periods between host crops and other rotational crops (Kerdraon et al., 2019). Previous studies have looked at the presence of disease inoculum in soybean and corn residues to determine how long they can survive as the residues decompose to help advise growers on how to rotate crops in order to avoid disease development (Melo Reis et al., 2011). Another study looked into how anthracnose leaf blight was influenced by residue in corn (Lipps, 1988). Most crop pathogens that can overwinter and survive within the residues are fungal pathogens who spend a large portion of their life cycle within the residues (Kerdraon et al., 2019). In South Dakota three fungal wheat spot pathogens, *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*, the causal agent of tan spot; *Parastagonospora nodorum*, the causal agent of stagonospora nodorum blotch; and *Zymoseptoria tritici*, the causal agent of septoria leaf blotch can all overwinter in crop residues.

Tan spot is an economically important disease because in severe cases it can decrease yields from 20% to all 70% (Cotuna et al., 2015). Tan spot reproduces both sexually and asexually. The sexual sore are ascospores and the asexual spores are conidiophores. Ascospores survive within the residue as pseudothecia, which develop on wheat straw in the fall to survive the winter. Once spring occurs, the ascospores are released by the psuedothecia and infect the host. Once the host is infected, conidia can be produced in mature lesions, serving as another form of inoculum. Conidia can also be produced in residues and can serve as the primary inoculum because they are small, produce more, and disperse easier than ascospores (Wegulo, 2011). The ability of this pathogen to survive and reproduce in residues makes the risk of disease epidemics higher in no-till and minimal till systems.

Septoria leaf blotch is another economically important wheat spot disease that survives on residues. Septoria leaf blotch can result in yields reductions of 20% to 50% in susceptible wheat cultivars (Danon et al., 1982). The life cycle of Septoria is much the same as tan spot with infection starting with infection of the host by ascospores spread by wind and conidia on residues by rain-splash. Like tan spot, the initial form of inoculum is often ascospores but can be conidiophores that overwintered as psuedothecia or pycnidia within crop residues. Septoria reproduces and grows rapidly once infection occurs and many cycles of sexual and asexual reproduction can occur in a growing season (Ponomarenko et al., 2011). Once again, the pathogen's ability to survive and reproduce on plant residue increases the risk of epidemics in no-till and minimal till systems. Stagonospora nodorum also known as Parastagonospora nodorum, Septoria nodorum, and Septoria nodorum blotch, is also an economically important residue borne pathogen in South Dakota. Infection can cause yields losses of 30% or greater and often can occur in combination with tan spot and Septoria leaf blotch (Downi et al., 2021). The pathogen can overwinter in crop residues in the forms of pseudothecia and pycnidia with ascospores from the psuedothecia often serving as primary inoculum; pycniospores from pycnidia can serve as primary inoculum. Infection continues to spread by rain splashed conidia on the lower portions of the plant to higher portions (Mehra et al., 2019). The increase in plant residues on the field due to no-tillage and minimum tillage once again increases the risk of an epidemic.

Many studies have been done comparing the difference in disease severity between conventional tillage, minimal tillage, and no-tillage, but the majority of them did not quantify how much of the surface of the field was covered in plant residue. (Cotuna et al., 2015) quantified minimal tillage as 30% residue left above the soil (Cotuna et al., 2015), moldboard plowing as was considered to be 8%, disking as 25%, minimal tillage as 80%, and no-tillage as 90% in by Bauder, Halsey, and Jokela in 1979 (Bauder et al., 1979). There is no one agreed upon residue amount for each type of tillage. In this experiment we explored what effects different percentages of residue cover on crops had for the wheat spot pathogens using four different residue ground cover amounts to encompass more types of minimal and no-till practices.

## **1.2 Objectives**

The goals of this experiment were to determine if there is a significant difference in disease severity between the four levels or residue treatments, and to determine whether there is a significant effect on yield under different residue treatments.

# **1.3 Hypotheses**

We hypothesize that as residue amounts increase so will the disease symptoms because of increased spore loads. We also hypothesize that the residue treatments will have no significant effect on yield because of the adverse effects of increased disease symptoms that will be most likely negated by the increase in moisture retention.

#### 2. Methodology

#### 2.1 Field Site Preparation

2021: Seven varieties of hard red winter wheat were planted into the residue of spring wheat field at the Volga Research Station in the fall of 2020, at the approximate coordinates, 44°18'04.6"N 96°55'27.7"W. Those seven varieties were 'Draper', 'Redfield', 'Ideal', 'Oahe', 'Expedition', 'Wesley', and 'Thompson'. 2022: The seven varieties from 2021 were planted into the residue of a soybean field at the Volga research station in the fall 2021, at the approximate coordinates, 44°18'07.3"N 96°55'38.9"W. Four replications of the seven varieties were planted each year, as four different residue ground covers were applied. The replicated blocks were separated by a border of the wheat variety 'Expedition', which was chosen due to its lack of resistance to tan spot and Septoria nodorum blotch and served as the positive control indicator of wheat disease (Table 1).

#### 2.2 Residue Applications

Residue was collected in the summer after harvest (early to mid-July) in both 2021 and 2022. Wheat straw from fields that were previously infected with diseases of interest was collected and stored in bags in a non-temperature-controlled shop. In 2021, the ground cover in the 20% block removed by raking up excess stubble (due to residue being above desired 20%) while additional residue was added to the 40%, 60%, and 80% blocks. Additions of residue were done in the spring at about Feekes 6.0. In 2022, residue was added to each of the four research blocks. Additions of residue were done in the spring at about Feekes 6.0 to prevent excessive loss of residues due to wind during the fall and winter.

#### 2.3 Disease Ratings

2021: Visual disease assessments were done from Feekes 10 to Feekes 11.3; 2022: Ratings of visual disease levels began at Feekes 9.0 and ended at Feekes 11.1 (Stages flag leaf emergence through milk stage). In both years, six tillers in six randomly selected locations in each plot were visually rated for spot diseases. Due to the inability to easily differentiate Stagonospora nodorum blotch, Septoria leaf blotch, and tan spot, all diseases were rated as a spot complex. Ratings at each time point included flag leaf, flag leaf minus one, and flag leaf minus two. As the season progressed, flag leaf minus one and minus two senesced and could no longer be accurately rated.

## 2.4 Residue Collection

In both years, residue was collected to determine what overwintering pathogens were present. During ratings, residue was collected by walking in a W pattern within each block. Residues were collected two to three times each season: first rating timepoint, mid-season, final rating timepoint. The residues were dried, ground, and placed in a 50 ml falcon tube until analysis. In 2021, residue samples were stored at room temperature until being sent for analysis, while in 2022, samples were stored at -20°C until sent for analysis. Quantitative PCR (q-PCR) was performed on each sample utilizing primers specific for each of the three wheat spot pathogens by the National Agricultural Genotyping Center in Fargo, North Dakota.

## 2.5 Data Collection

Harvest and field data collection in 2021 and 2022 were performed utilizing the methodology outlined in Chapter two of this thesis. Briefly, plots were harvested in July and yield data was collected for each variety in each of the four residue blocks.

#### 2.6 Statistical Analysis

All statistics were done using Systat's SigmaPlot Inpixion version 15.0 (Inpixon - systatsoftware.com, 2023). Two-way anovas were done on each variety comparing growth stages and residues to spot severity for both years separately. Data from 2021 and 2022 were not compared to one another due to differences in weather conditions. All pairwise multiple comparison procedures were done using the Holm-Sidak method with a power of preformed test alpha of 0.050. SigmaPlot was also used to create all graphs and to determine all descriptive statistics. Tables were made using Microsoft Excel and Word.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1 2021 Residue Analysis

The seven varieties utilized in this study generally showed an exponential increase in spot disease from the first observation at Feekes 10.5 to the final observation at Feekes 11.3 (Figure 1). This was shown in visual observations (Table 2), as well as through qPCR testing results (Table 3). Another general trend that was observed throughout the 2021 season was that the 60% residue level had the most spot disease severity in visual observations. This was observed at Feekes 10.5 in 'Expedition' and 'Wesley'; Feekes 11.2 in varieties 'Redfield', 'Expedition', and 'Wesley'; and Feekes 11.3 in varieties 'Thompson', 'Expedition', 'Wesley', and 'Oahe' (Table 2). Figure 2 demonstrates the results of comparing all varieties at the 60% disease level for this study. The p-value was adjusted to 0.005 to account for the high amounts of variation in the large data set. It can be seen that several varieties were statistically significantly different early in the growing season. When comparing the diagnostic testing results also reflect that 60% residues had generally high titer of pathogens (Table 3). When comparing the residue levels to each other across the varieties, the most statistical differences were observed between the high levels (60% and 80%) and the low levels (20% and 40%). This statistical difference was observed at Feekes 11.2 in varieties 'Draper', 'Ideal', and 'Redfield' and Feekes 11.3 for 'Draper', 'Ideal', and 'Thompson' (Table 2).

## 3.2 2022 Residue Analysis

The results for this study in 2022 are similar to those in 2021, though with an overall lowered disease severity, which can be observed from visual analysis and

diagnostic testing results. In general, there were significant differences in the lower residue amounts (20% and 40%) and higher residue amounts (60% and 80%) at growth stages Feekes 10.5 and Feekes 11.1 for all varieties (Table 4). Figure 4 shows the relationship between all varieties at the 60% residue level. This level was picked as it showed the most disease development. It can be seen that 'Wesley' is significantly different with lowered disease levels for the first three growth stages in 2022 but had the same amount of disease development as all other varieties by Feekes 11.1.

## 3.3 Yield Data

No conclusions or significant findings could be made with yield data in 2021 or 2022. Residue did not appear to influence yield (Figure 5). However, in 2021, it was observed that in the varieties 'Redfield' and 'Oahe' that the 40% residue treatment may have affected yield and that in the variety 'Thompson', yields from the 60% and 80% residues were higher when compared to 20% and 40% residues (Figure 5A). When comparing the effects of residues on plot yield in 2022, it was observed that in 'Draper' and 'Thompson', the yields of the upper-level residues were higher than those in the lower-level residues. In 'Redfield', the yield in the 80% was lower than the other three residue percentages. 'Expedition' had yields that were higher in the 80% residue block when compared to all other percentages. The yield for 20% residue was higher than all other percentages in the varieties 'Ideal' and 'Wesley' (Figure 5B).

#### 4. Discussion

The purpose of this study was to quantify the effect of crop residue ground cover on disease development as well as yield. As many wheat growing regions look to embrace no-till or minimal tillage practices to enhance soil health, the drawbacks of the residues left on the soil in respect to disease are not well understood. It is known that many of the common wheat diseases such as tan spot, Stagonospora nodorum blotch, and Septoria leaf blotch are able to overwinter as fungal spores on wheat residues. What remains unknown and is the focus of this study is if the percentage of residue that remains each year will increase disease pressure for the following growing season. It is believed the higher residue amounts will lead to higher disease pressure as there are more fungal inoculum remaining each year to begin the infection cycle again.

The effect of residue percentage on disease development was explored in the summers of 2021 and 2022 in Volga, South Dakota. Overall, it was found that 60% residues frequently had higher disease severity when compared to the other percentages (Figures 2 and 4). This was observed in both 2021 and 2022, though more often in 2021, likely due to higher moisture observed early in the growing season that year. 'Wesley', 'Expedition', and 'Ideal' were significantly different from all others in the first part of the season in 2021, suggesting that these varieties were more susceptible to the combined effects of residue and disease (Figure 2). In 2022, there were less differences, but 'Wesley' was still significantly different from all other varieties at all growth stages except Feekes 11.1 (Figure 4). Residue levels of 80% also resulted in higher disease levels as the season progressed, which was the expected result. There was little difference between disease severity at the 20% and 40% residue amounts. Throughout the season, differences between the lower level (20% and 40%) and higher level (60% and 80%) were observed (Figures 1 and 3). More differences were observed in the earlier parts of

the growing season both years, but as time progressed the differences between varieties decreased.

Disease symptoms being greater in 60% than 80% residue treatments during the 2021 growing season was unexpected as it was suspected that the highest level of residue would correlate with the highest disease levels. Bockus and Claassen (1992) performed a similar experiment in the late eighties researching tan spot severity in winter wheat under three different tillage practices: moldboard plow, chisel plow, and no-tillage. They found that no tillage under wheat-on-wheat rotation always had a statistically significant higher amount of tan spot then the other two tillage treatments (Bockus & Claassen, 1992).

An experiment done by Mehra et al. (2015) in the early 2010's looked at residue effects on the development of Stagonospora nodorum blotch. They too, looked at four different residue treatments with 0%, 30%, 60%, and 90% residue ground covers to represent different tillage treatments. The study found that the higher residue levels did increase disease severity and disease levels increased linearly throughout the growing season as well. There were very little differences in disease severity early in the growing season, but later in the growing season there were statistical differences between residue treatments (Mehra et al., 2015). The researchers found that an increased residue level of 30% resulted in greater increase in disease severity than the 60% or 90% residue levels. This was similar to our results with 40% and 60% sometimes being greater than or the same as 80%. The difference in these studies and our study was that we observed more statistical differences early in the growth season, likely influenced by the addition of residues that had extra disease inoculum. As the growing season progressed, residue amounts did not seem to influence disease progression as heavily and the various levels

were not different from each other. This may have been due to the presence of multiple disease while Mehra et al. (2015) was only observing one disease.

Mehra et al. (2015) hypothesized that differences in disease incidences in residues occurred because at higher residue levels, a higher proportion of total inoculum was trapped in lower levels of the residues. There were no standing stubbles in the South Dakota trials, only enough residue to reach the desired amounts spread as evenly as possible throughout the plots for the South Dakota trials. This too could have created different layers of residue when straw was being added to the higher treatment levels.

While our study was focused on the entire wheat spot disease complex, it was originally assumed that tan spot was the predominant disease in South Dakota. While tan spot was confirmed to be present in the field trials, based on the diagnostic testing (Table 3) performed in this project for 2021, high levels of Stagonospora nodorum blotch were also found. In the beginning of the season pathogen titer was very high and those levels increased exponentially by the last data collection at Feekes 11.3, especially in the 40% and 60% residue levels. Diagnostic data collected for this pathogen in 2022 differed as pathogen levels either remained constant or dropped from Feekes 9.0 to Feekes 11.2 (Table 3), likely due to dry weather conditions. However even in 2022, this pathogen was present at high levels throughout the season in the 40% and 60% residue levels. Both years of diagnostic data suggest that Stagonospora nodorum blotch is a prevalent disease in South Dakota that overwinters in residues and appears to cause more severe levels in residues of the 40%-60% range.

The influence of tillage on the disease intensity of Septoria leaf blotch was studied by Schuh (1990) in 1987-1988. They compared conventional and conservation

tillage but did not quantify residue amounts and did not look into initial spore loads. They did not find any significant difference between the tillage practices throughout the entire growing season (Schuh, 1990). Another study was performed by Bankina et al. (2015), looked at crop rotation and the severity of Septoria leaf blotch, but once again did not mention or quantify the amount of residue left on the field. They found that there was a slightly significant interaction between crop rotation and the level of disease with disease decreasing significantly when the break between wheat sowing was greater than a year (Bankina et al., 2015). Otherwise, no studies looking at the difference between Septoria leaf blotch severity and residue amounts could be found. Low levels of Septoria were found in our study leading to the conclusion that Septoria is not a major fungal pathogen in South Dakota.

In this experiment all three of the above-mentioned diseases were visually rated as a complex due to the inability to accurately tell them apart within the field. In 2021, residue samples were taken at the end of the season (Feekes 11.3) to determine what inoculum had been present throughout the growing season. Stagonospora nodorum blotch inoculum was found in all samples, tan spot inoculum was found in all but one sample from the 60% residue block and Septoria leaf blotch inoculum was found in all plots except the 80% residue block (Table 3). Residue samples were taken throughout the season to determine what inoculum was present in 2022. Stagonospora nodorum blotch and tan spot inoculum was found in all samples taken while Septoria leaf blotch inoculum was present in only four sampling instances in 2022 (Table 3).

Field location may have influenced why disease severity was so often significantly higher in the 60% residue block in 2021. In 2021, the research small plot

was planted just north of an established large windbreak. The 60% residue block was the closest to this windbreak and received more hours of shade than other blocks and the topography was slightly lower in this section of the field as well. This cannot be the case for the instances of the 60% residue block being higher in disease severity than 80% in 2022. The field in 2022 was on a flat open portion of the Volga research center where there should have been no influence from windbreaks and topography. Another factor that could have affected the results in this study are that the residues added to the blocks were not uniform in the amount of disease inoculum. These residues were not tested with qPCR to determine titer before application, which could have affected the amount of inoculum that was applied to each block.

## 5. Conclusions

The difference between residue levels and disease severity were not as hypothesized with unexpected differences in residue amounts. To better understand the differences, this experiment needs to be repeated with some modifications. One such modification would be using qPCR to determine what pathogens are actually present on the leaves and to collect residues more often throughout the growing season. Another modification would be to have better replication of varieties within the residue treatments and to irrigate the field to encourage pathogen infection even in dry years. To truly understand what all may be influencing the amount of disease severity in correlation to residue amounts one would have to remove more variables of uncertainty. However, we were able to begin establishing a baseline in the relationship between disease severity and residue percentages under no-till conditions, which was the main goal of this study.

## 6. Literature Cited

Bankina, B., Bimsteine, G., Ruza, A., Kreita, D., Katamadze, M., & Paura, L. 2015. Crop Rotation - The Main Factor Influencing the Development of Wheat Leaf Blotch. *Integrated Pest Management*, 65-69.

Bauder, J., Halsey, C., & Jokela, W. 1979. Tillage Its Role in Controling Soil Erosion by Water. *Agricultural Extension Service, University of Minnesota*.

Bly, A., Wang, T., Mueller, J., White, T., Kumar, S. 2019. Farm Practices that Improve soil Health: Cover Crops and Crop Residue. SDSU Extension Website. Farm Practices That Improve Soil Health: Cover Crops and Crop Residues (sdstate.edu)

Bockus, W.W., & Claassen, M.M. 1992. Effects of crop rotation and Residue Management Practices on Severity of Tan Spot of Winter Wheat. *Plant Disease*, 76:633-636.

Cotuna, O., Paraschivu, M., Paraschivu, A., Sărățeanu, V. 2015. The influence of tillage, crop rotation and residue management on tan spot (*Drechslera tritici repentis*. *Died*. *Shoemaker*) in winter wheat. *Research Journal of Agricultural Science*, 47(2): 13-21.

Danon, T., Sacks, J., & Eyal, Z. 1982. The Relationship Among Plant Structure, Maturity Class, and Susceptibility to Septoria Leaf Blotch of Wheat. *Phytopathology*, 72:1037-1042.

Downie, R.C., Lin, M., Corsi, B., Ficke, A., Lillemo, M., Oliver, R.P., Phan, H.T.T., Tan, K.C., Cockram, J. 2021. Septoria Nodorum Blotch of Wheat: Disease Management and Resistance Breeding in the Face of Shifting Disease Dynamics and a Changing Environment. *Phytopathology*, 111(6):906-920.

*Inpixon - systatsoftware.com*. 2023. Retrieved from systatsoftware.com: https://systatsoftware.com/sigmaplot/

Kerdraon, L., Laval, V., Suffert, F. 2019. Microbiomes and Pathogen Survival in Crop Residues, an Ecotone Between Plant and Soil. *Phytobiomes Journal*, 3:246-255.

Lipps, P.E. 1988. Spread of Corn Anthracnose from Surface Residues in Continuous Corn and Corn-Soybean Rotation Plots. *Phytopathology*, 78:756-761.

Mehra, L.K., Cowger, C., Weisz, R., Ojiambo, P.S. 2015. Quantifying the Effects of Wheat Residue on Severity of Stagonospora nodorum Blotch and Yield in Winter Wheat. *Phytopathology*, 105:11, 1417-1426.

Mehra, L. K., Adhikari, U., Ojiambo, P. S., Cowger, C. 2019. Septoria nodorum blotch of wheat. *The Plant Health Instructor*.

Melo Reis, E., Baruffi, D., Remor, L., Zanatta, M. 2011. Decomposition of corn and soybean residues under field conditions and their role as inoculum source. *Summa Phytopathologica*, 37. 65-67.

Ponomarenko A., Goodwin, S.B., Kema, G.H.J. 2011. Septoria tritici blotch (STB) of wheat. *Plant Health Instructor*.

Schuh, W. 1990. Influence of Tillage Systems on Disease Intensity and Spatial Pattern of Spetoria Leaf Blotch. *Phytopathology*, 80:1337-1330.

Tonneson, L. 2020. No-till, cover crops acres grow in South Dakota. Dakota Farmer.

Wegulo, S. N. 2011. Tan Spot of Cereals. The Plant Health Instructor.

# 7. Tables and Figures

Table 1.	Varieties	in this st	udy and	their	associa	ted o	disease ra	atin	igs for t	he three	e diseases
in this stu	udy.		-								

Variety	Parastagonospora	Zymoseptoria	Pyrenophora
	nodorum	tritici	tritici-repentis
Draper	No Rating	No Rating	Tolerant
Ideal	Susceptible	No Rating	Susceptible
Redfield	Tolerant	No Rating	Susceptible
Thompson	No Rating	No Rating	Susceptible
Expedition	Susceptible	No Rating	Susceptible
Wesley	No Rating	No Rating	Tolerant
Oahe	No Rating	No Rating	Tolerant

Draper		Feekes 10.5	Feekes 11.2	Feekes 11.3
2	0	0.2926 <sup>a</sup>	4.9796	19
4	0	2.1528	5.3981	17.0556
6	0	3.5704ª	5.6204	17.3689
8	0	2.6704	8.6296	18.6944
Ideal				
2	0	0.2009 <sup>a</sup>	1.75	15
4	0	0.2389 <sup>b</sup>	2.7361	19.3611
6	0	0.912 <sup>ab</sup>	2.2611	18.6389
8	0	0.4157	2.4065	16.0556
Redfield				
2	0	0.8352 <sup>ab</sup>	4.887 <sup>d</sup>	8.6359
4	0	5.1667ª	4.6343 <sup>e</sup>	10.8889
6	0	3.7731	9.8426 <sup>ab</sup>	8.1389
8	0	4.4769 <sup>b</sup>	5.9556	9.9167
Thompson				
2	0	0.1361ª	3.3435	14.3944
4	0	0.4235 <sup>b</sup>	3.4306	11.1667
6	0	1.4343 <sup>c</sup>	6.5278	22.1944
8	0	3.5417 <sup>abc</sup>	6.7731	13.6944
Expedition				
2	0	0.6259 <sup>ab</sup>	5.187	18.3056
4	0	4.3528	7.5093	18.5556
6	0	8.2194ª	10.1296	18.7778
8	0	5.7407 <sup>b</sup>	6.5509	11.5
Wesley				
2	0	0.1509 <sup>a</sup>	2.3231 <sup>d</sup>	13.3333
4	0	0.638 <sup>b</sup>	3.0769 <sup>e</sup>	17.7222
6	0	8.3509 <sup>abc</sup>	10.4352 <sup>edf</sup>	22.5556
8	0	0.7704 <sup>c</sup>	4.3583 <sup>f</sup>	15.1667
Oahe				
2	0	0 <sup>ab</sup>	3.8815	16.5694
4	0	0.5019 <sup>c</sup>	5.7778	21.1944
6	0	1.988 <sup>acd</sup>	4.5926	21.0556
8	0	0.9722 <sup>bd</sup>	3.8657	16.6528

Table 2. Means of varieties, residues, and growth stages. Significance of residue percentage when compared to the respective growth stage is noted.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1-</sup> 'Draper' p-values: a) 0.01000. 'Ideal' p-values: a) 0.0102, b) 0.01713. 'Redfield' p-values: a) 0.0106, b) 0.0451, c) 0.0392, d) 0.0268. 'Thompson' p-values: a) 0.00000, b) 0.00000 c) 0.00402. 'Expedition' p-values: a) 0.00001, b) 0.00617. 'Wesley' p-values: a) 0.00000, b) 0.00000, c) 0.00000, d) 0.00001, e) 0.00005, f) 0.00132. 'Oahe' p-values: a) 0.00000, b) 0.04, c) 0.00034, d) 0.029.

Table 3. Testing data that was collected from residue blocks in this study. Disease levels were higher overall in 2021. It can be observed that disease titer for Stagonospora nodorum blotch (SNB) generally stayed the same or increased throughout the season in both years whereas Tan Spot and Septoria titers generally started at high levels and decreased throughout the season.

				Tan	
	Residue	Growth	SNB	Spot	Septoria
Year	Amount	Stage	(Cq)	(Cq)	(Cq)
2021	20	Feekes 10.5	17.32	21.03	26.94
	20	Feekes 11.3	13.93	25.46	29.78
	40	Feekes 10.5	13.61	20.54	23.38
	40	Feekes 11.3	12.95	26.38	28.83
	60	Feekes 10.5	16.01	ND	22.19
		Feekes 11.3	13.33	ND	29.86
	80	Feekes 10.5	18.19	20.7	ND
		Feekes 11.3	12.47	ND	ND
2022	20	Feekes 9.0	23.3	24.18	35.67
	20	Feekes 11.1	20.52	26.84	ND
	40	Feekes 9.0	21.62	23.21	ND
	40	Feekes 11.1	21.93	29.28	ND
	60	Feekes 9.0	21.45	25.19	38.77
	00	Feekes 11.1	21.78	26.15	ND
	80	Feekes 9.0	22.61	23.84	34.38
	00	Feekes 11.1	22.48	25.3	37.77

Variety	Feekes 9	Feekes 10	Feekes 10.5	Feekes 11.1
'Draper'				
20	0.0583	$0.2426^{a}$	2.9398	$4.1824^{fg}$
40	0.0704	0.2009 <sup>b</sup>	1.6426 <sup>de</sup>	11.7407
60	0.1259	0.4444 <sup>c</sup>	6.4833 <sup>d</sup>	12.8306 <sup>f</sup>
80	0.3093	4.7398 <sup>abc</sup>	6.2009 <sup>e</sup>	12.8009 <sup>g</sup>
'Ideal'				
20	0.0333 <sup>a</sup>	0.0833 <sup>cd</sup>	1.3787 <sup>ef</sup>	10.888
40	0.0398 <sup>b</sup>	1.1417	3.3361 <sup>gh</sup>	11.2157
60	0.0787	1.7343 <sup>c</sup>	9.1407 <sup>eg</sup>	11.7556
80	0.2417 <sup>ab</sup>	2.3454 <sup>d</sup>	8.7 <sup>fh</sup>	12.1528
'Redfield'				
20	0.0611 <sup>a</sup> a	0.4306 <sup>c</sup>	4.1296	6.6657 <sup>g</sup>
40	0.0194 <sup>b</sup> b	0.4315 <sup>d</sup>	3.6157 <sup>f</sup>	12.2296
60	0.3287	0.3926e	5.938	11.2287
80	0.6194 <sup>ab</sup> ab	1.8083 <sup>cde</sup>	8.6444 <sup>f</sup>	16.587 <sup>g</sup>
'Thompson'				
20	$0.0352^{a}$	$0.0778^{de}$	3.7565	7.3935
40	0.0213 <sup>b</sup>	2.3111 <sup>d</sup>	5.9676	8.6648
60	0.1361 <sup>c</sup>	0.7639 <sup>f</sup>	7.188	11.5556
80	1.9685 <sup>abc</sup>	2.8352 <sup>ef</sup>	8.3593	10.5093
'Expedition'				
20	0.0157	0.3824	2.7657 <sup>a</sup>	9.8528
40	0.0306	0.3074	4.8528	14.5463
60	0.3176	1.1398	4.1157	14.2796
80	0.1213	1.2907	7.8594 <sup>a</sup>	15.8181
'Wesley'				
20	0.0046 <sup>a</sup>	0.1741 <sup>d</sup>	1.7343 <sup>gh</sup>	8.0648 <sup>i</sup>
40	$0.1056^{b}$	1.4352 <sup>e</sup>	6.9694	10.9898
60	1.0083 <sup>abc</sup>	6.1435 <sup>def</sup>	11.2806 <sup>g</sup>	16.7963 <sup>i</sup>
80	0.25 <sup>c</sup>	2.0167 <sup>f</sup>	$11.4148^{h}$	15.2176
'Oahe'				
20	0.0639 <sup>a</sup>	0.0602 <sup>c</sup>	2.013 <sup>f</sup>	9.2602
40	0.0519 <sup>b</sup>	$0.262^{d}$	2.9972 <sup>g</sup>	9.5102
60	0.112	0.9972 <sup>e</sup>	5.8019	15.9306
80	$0.4296^{ab}$	3.8991 <sup>cde</sup>	8.9556 <sup>fg</sup>	12.162

Table 4. Means of varieties, residues, and growth stages. Significance of residue percentage when compared to the respective growth stage is noted.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>2-</sup> 'Draper' p-values: a) 0.00000, b) 0.00000, c) 0.00000, d) 0.0089, e) 0.0158, f) 0.0216, g) 0.02225. 'Ideal' p-values: a) 0.0063, b) 0.0088, c) 0.0328, d) 0.0012, e) 0.00039, f) 0.00095, g) 0.0146, h) 0.0287. 'Redfield' p-values: a) 0.00054, b) 0.00016, c) 0.00013, d) 0.00013, e) 0.00008, f) 0.04591, g) 0.00597. 'Thompson' p-values: a) 0.00002, b) 0.00001, c) 0.00005, d) 0.0043, e) 0.00021, f) 0.00971. 'Expedition' p-values: a) 0.0139. 'Wesley' p-values: a) 0.0002, b) 0.0012, c) 0.0096, d) 0.00000, e) 0.00001, f) 0.0001, g) 0.0013, h) 0.0011, i) 0.02897. 'Oahe' p-values: a) 0.041, b) 0.032, c) 0.00000, d) 0.00000, e) 0.0000, f) 0.00075, g) 0.00548.



Figure 1. Comparison of disease abundance in 2021 to growth stage for each residue level of each variety. As the growing season progressed, disease abundance increased within each variety. Residue percentage did not appear to heavily influence disease abundance.



Figure 2. The results from comparison of all varieties at the 60% residue level showed more significance early in the season and no significance later in the season. 'Wesley', 'Expedition', and 'Ideal' were significantly different from all others in the first part of the season, suggesting that these varieties were more susceptible to the combined effects of residue and disease.



Figure 3. Comparison of disease abundance in 2022 to growth stage for each residue level of each variety. As the growing season progressed, disease abundance increased within each variety. Residue percentage did not appear to heavily influence disease abundance.



Figure 4. Comparison of all varieties at the 60% residue timepoint, which was selected as it had the most significant relationships. Wesley (\*) was significantly different from all other varieties at all growth stages except Feekes 11.1.



Figure 5. Demonstration of yield for each variety per residue percentage. A) 2021 yield, B) 2022 yield.

#### **Chapter 4 Overall Conclusions**

This project was initially designed by the National Predictive Modeling Tool Initiative (NPMTI) to develop a new predictive model for wheat fungal pathogens throughout the United States using both historical and newly collected data. For the project, researchers were tasked with investigation of many variables including but not limited to: residue amounts (amount of ground covered by previous years wheat straws), weather variables (temperature, precipitation, relative humidity, etc.), overwintering spore loads, residue spore loads, and airborne spore loads. South Dakota lacked any large historical disease data sets that could be used, so this project focused on establishing the baselines of types and amounts of diseases in the state. The six diseases of interest for which data was collected in this project were leaf rust (*Puccinia triticina*), stem rust (*Puccinia graminis*), stripe rust (*Puccinia striiformis*), tan spot (*Pyrenophora triticirepentis*), Stagonospora nodorum blotch (*Parastagonospora nodorum*), and Septoria leaf blotch (*Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*).

The varieties that were selected for this study were seven varieties that were either bred in or commonly grown in South Dakota. All varieties have been evaluated for their response to four to six of the diseases covered in this study (Chapter 2, Table 1). The findings of this study are as follows. In both years of the study, rust disease levels were very low with few instances of any rust disease in 2022. Spot disease levels were high in both years, though more in 2021 due to early season moisture. It was also found that Stagnospora nordorum blotch was prominent in South Dakota, which was an unexpected
finding. This finding explained why many of the tan spot tolerant varieties still developed spot diseases in both years of this study.

The residue levels chosen for this experiment were 20%, 40%, 60%, and 80% ground cover. Previous experiments considered these treatments to be approximately 0%, 30%, and 90% ground cover (Dill-Macky & Jones, 2000; Otilia Cotuna et al., 2015). The use of 20%, 40%, 60%, and 80% ground cover was done to encompass more variability in residue amounts due to the wide variety of soil conservation and tillage practices employed in South Dakota. The results of our study were that the upper-level residue amounts of 60% and 80% appeared to increase disease severity. This was an expected based on previous literature. The 60% residue level appeared to increase disease severity the most, but that finding was no consistent across all varieties in both years.

## 2. Future Directions

To better understand what is occurring with disease levels and occurrence, more experiments will need to be done. To better understand the ecology of the pathogens within the residue, molecular testing should be done to accurately identify pathogens and then experiments should be done looking at each pathogen separately in various residue amounts. Then in more controlled experiments, such as a greenhouse, to establish a baseline, different pathogen combinations should be introduced to each residue amount and determine the effects of the disease combinations. The information from a controlled environment would set a baseline for expectations of field experiments. In future continuation of the South Dakota NPMTI trials, other varieties should be evaluated for their response to these diseases. Additionally, factors such as the addition of irrigation to encourage disease development, should be utilized to standardize field studies.

## 3. Literature Cited

Cotuna, O., Paraschivu, M., Paraschivu, A., Sărățeanu, V. 2015. The influence of tillage, crop rotation and residue management on tan spot (*Drechslera tritici repentis*. *Died*. *Shoemaker*) in winter wheat. *Research Journal of Agricultural Science*, 47(2): 13-21.

Dill-Macky, R., & Jones, R.K. 2000. The Effect of Previous Crop Residues and Tillage on Fusarium Head Blight of Wheat. *Plant Disease*, 84(1):71-76.

## 4. Figures



Figure 1: Scan of different flag leaves from Feekes 11 in 2021.